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AB Cayman Trust Global High Income Equity Fund Non JPY
Currency
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- Class US BR
- Class AU AU
- Class AU BR

AllianceBernstein L.P.
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AllianceBernstein L.P.
AB - AB

Cayman Trust

Global High Income Equity Fund Non JPY Currency

2025
41,029,587 97.25
1,160,336 2.75
42,189,923
100.00
( 6,015 )
2025 30
142 .57 90.96
2025
2024 14,626,088 | 2,085,241, 366 10.49 1,496
14,735,883 | 2,100,894,839 10.61 1,513
15,111,336 | 2,154,423,174 10.88 1,551
15,419,561 | 2,198,366,812 11.10 1,583
15,679,822 | 2,235,472,223 11.29 1,610
10 14,836,005 | 2,115,169,233 11.13 1,587
11 15,043,853 | 2,144,802,122 11.37 1,621
12 13,608,891 | 1,940,219,590 10.31 1,470
2025 13,957,541 | 1,989,926,620 10.57 1,507
14,131,603 | 2,014,742,640 10.72 1,528
13,689,586 | 1,951,724,276 10.40 1,483
13,985,901 | 1,993,969,906 10.63 1,516
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2024 3,023,452 431,053,552 5.21 743
2,642,594 376,754,627 4.96 707

2,609,446 372,028,716 5.03 717

2,670,609 380,748,725 5.15 734

2,813,208 401,079,065 5.43 774

10 2,621,038 373,681,388 5.06 721

11 2,405,659 342,974,804 5.02 716

12 2,264,947 322,913,494 4.75 677

2025 2,460,829 350,840,391 5.16 736
1,945,411 277,357,246 5.23 746

1,959,084 279,306,606 5.26 750

2,012,125 286,868,661 5.42 773

2024 40,355,051 | 3,670,695,439 10.46 951
40,429,834 | 3,677,497,701 10.57 961

41,353,358 | 3,761,501,444 10.83 985

41,845,846 | 3,806,298,152 11.04 1,004

42,434,711 | 3,859,861,313 11.22 1,021

10 41,687,039 | 3,791,853,067 11.06 1,006

11 42,178,964 | 3,836,598,565 11.30 1,028

12 38,282,255 | 3,482,153,915 10.28 935

2025 39,025,246 | 3,549,736,376 10.55 960
39,574,651 | 3,599,710,255 10.70 973

37,889,743 | 3,446,451,023 10.38 944

38,455,932 | 3,497,951,575 10.54 959

3/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

2024 2,370,440 215,615,222 7.75 705
2,235,257 203,318,977 7.36 669

2,317,178 210,770,511 7.63 694

2,291,408 208,426,472 7.55 687

2,261,185 205,677,388 7.78 708

10 2,213,281 201,320,040 7.62 693

11 2,215,773 201,546,712 7.63 694

12 2,196,772 199,818,381 7.56 688

2025 2,388,962 217,299,984 8.22 748
2,422,897 220,386,711 8.34 759

2,422,802 220,378,070 8.34 759

2,433,771 221,375,810 8.38 762
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2024 0.016 1

0.016 1

0.016 1

0.016 1

0.016 1

10 0.016 1

11 0.016 1

12 0.016 1

2025 0.016 1

0.016 1

0.016 1

0.016 1
2024 2025 12.96
2024 2025 7.60
2024 2025 11.09
2024 2025 8.64

100
2025
(2024 )
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2025

87,350 1,315,900
87,350 1,315,900
215,360 371,350
215,360 371,350
263,920 3,649,150
263,920 3,649,150
15,200 290,470
15,200 290,470
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23 103

2025 30
142 .57



15,438,103
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2025 31
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41,097,758
2,201,010
117,725

5,859,307

16,784

41,215,483

5,876,091

579
133,187
89,997
51,503
26,300
6,275
1,652
330
67,714

83
18,988
12,831
7,343
3,750
895
236

47
9,654

377,537

53,825

40,837,946

5,822,266
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23,675,389 3,375,400 3,649,150 6.49 925
1,513,887 215,835 290,470 5.21 743
1,959,084 279,307 372,270 5.26 750

13,689,586 1,951,724 1,315,900 10.40 1,483

10.38 944
8.34 759
5.26 750

10.40 1,483

12/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

2025 31

201,092 28,670
201,092 28,670
41,722 5,948
2,196 313
131,755 18,784
19,836 2,828
12,006 1,712
10,980 1,565
10,831 1,544
5,060 721
4,972 709

781 111
240,139 34,237
(39,047) (5.567)
4,475,343 638,050
(2,706,027) (385,798)
(4,299,916) (613,039)
(276,985) (39,490)
(2,807,585) (400,277)

(2,846,632) (405,844)

13/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

2025

31

14/144

(39,047) (5,567)
1,769,316 252,251
(4,576,901) (652,529)
(2,846,632) (405,844)
(1,936,135) (276,035)
(17,859) (2,546)
(31,249) (4,455)
(1,211,216) (172,683)
(3,196,459) (455,719)
(2,512,499) (358,207)
(2,512,499) (358,207)

(8,555,590)

49,393,536

(1,219,770)

7,042,036

40,837,946

5,822,266
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2025 31

1-9005

2021

2028 30
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2025 31

90
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100

10

15
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2025 31

2025 31 2025 31
(133,010) (917,879)
(133,010) (917,879)
(145,890) (776,350)
(145,890) (776,350)

(73,450) (818,270)
(73,450) (818,270)

(2,512,499)

2025 31 100

10,000
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2025 31
2025 31
0.01
0.19
0.85
2025 31
6,275
186,112
30
15,000
10,000
2025 31
10,831
10,234
7,292
0.05
2025 31
1,652
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4,972
41,722 2,196
330
2,216
1,000
12,006
9,983
9,724
10,980

0.60
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2025 31 131,755
89,997
2025 31
2025 31
0.29 117,725
(0.33) (133,187)

(0.04) (15,462)
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2025 31
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117,725 133,187

117,725 133,187
(2,703,837) (276,985)
(2,703,837) (276,985)

2025 31

2025 31
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4,411 (4,411) 0 0 0
113,314 (33,848) 79,466 0 79,466
117,725 (38,259) 79,466 0 79,466

99,339 (4,411) 94,928 0 94,928
33,848 (33,848) 0 0 0
133,187 (38,259) 94,928 0 94,928
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2025 31
0 117,725 0 117,725

0  (133,187) 0 (133,187)

0 (15,462) 0 (15,462)

41,097,758

41,082,297

2025 31
2025 31

2025 31
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2025 31

7.76

(0.01)
(0.74)

(0.75)

(0.52)

6.49

26/144

(9.84)%
0.27)%

23,675

1.09%
(0.18)%

2025 31

5.38

(0.00) *
(0.11)

(0.11)

(0.06)

5.21

(1.99)%
8.50%

1,514

1.09%
(0.18)%



*

0.005
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2025 31

5.43

(0.00) *
(0.10)

(0.10)

(0.07)

5.26

(1.88)%

1,959

1.09%
(0.17)%

2025 31

11.29

(0.01)
0.04

0.03

(0.92)

10.40

0.15%

13,690

1.09%
(0.18)%
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2025 15

2025 2025 15 4,591
50,031
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2025 Partners® capital
attributable to AllianceBernstein Unitholders 47.65 6,793
292,273,197
2025 7,845 112
26
2025
3,150
3,000
1,690
2025
2025
( )
1993 25,383 8.64**

32/144
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) ( )
1992 28 24,713 100.26*
1997 22 15,572 5.47

)
1992 28 7,614 137.32

80
ETF
15

33/144
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2012 12 11 7,564 31.68

ETF

10 25
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328

23 103

2025 30
142.57
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12 31
2024 2023

832,044 118,625 1,000,103 142,585

495,391 859,448 500,046 71,292 867,680 123,705

33,772 4,815 53,144 7,577

1,432,372 204,213 1,314,656 187,431

AB 467,351 66,630 343,334 48,949

159,336 22,717 125,500 17,893

286,721 40,878

248,483 35,426 243,554 34,723

1,989 284 7,739 1,103

140,792 20,073 397,174 56,625

14,801 2,110 25,299 3,607

248,673 35,453 176,348 25,142

3,598,591 513,051 3,598,591 513,051

215,054 30,660 264,555 37,718

182,707 26,049 87,374 12,457

449,877 64,139 323,766 46,159

564,776 80,520

259,318 36,971 216,213 30,825

9,071,927 1,293,385 9,609,806 1,370,070

162,570 23,178 259,175 36,951

1,933,843 275,708 2,200,835 313,773

AB 830 118 644 92

9,385 1,338 252,690 36,026

426,675 60,831 172,163 24,545

512,615 73,084 369,017 52,611

1,716 245 12,537 1,787

391,161 55,768 372,305 53,080

710,000 101,225 1,154,316 164,571

153,342 21,862

4,148,795 591,494 4,947,024 705,297

14

48,489 6,913 209,420 29,857

49,519 7,060 45,388 6,471

292,107,907 286,609,212 4,999,616 712,795 4,590,619 654,485
(2,893) (412) (4,490) (640)
AB (62,366) (8,892) (76,363) (10,887)
(110,581) (15,766) (106,364) (15,164)

AB 4,873,295 694,786 4,448,790 634,264

1,348 192 4,572 652

4,874,643 694,978 4,453,362 634,916

9,071,927 1,293,385 9,609,806 1,370,070
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12 31
2024 2023 2022

3,442,139 490,746 2,975,468 424,212 2,971,038 423,581
96,222 13,718 386,142 55,052 416,273 59,348
726,670 103,601 586,263 83,584 607,195 86,568
165,313 23,569 199,443 28,435 123,001 17,549
(13,486) (1,923) 14,206 2,025 (102,413) (14,601)
142,794 20,358 101,342 14,448 105,544 15,047
4,559,652 650,070 4,262,864 607,757 4,120,728 587,492
84,513 12,049 107,541 15,332 66,438 9,472
4,475,139 638,021 4,155,323 592,424 4,054,290 578,020
1,801,767 256,878 1,769,153 252,228 1,666,636 237,612
742,429 105,848 610,368 87,020 629,572 89,758
57,983 8,267 36,817 5,249 34,762 4,956
182,146 25,969 215,643 30,744 215,556 30,732
599,215 85,430 581,571 82,915 641,635 91,478
(121,896) (17,379) 22,853 3,258 6,563 936
43,509 6,203 54,394 7,755 17,906 2,553
45,913 6,546 46,854 6,680 26,564 3,787
3,351,066 477,761 3,337,653 475,849 3,239,194 461,812
1,124,073 160,259 817,670 116,575 815,096 116,208

134,555 19,184

134,555 19,184
1,258,628 179,443 817,670 116,575 815,006 116,208
65,143 9,287 29,051 4,142 39,639 5,651
1,193,485 170,155 788,619 112,433 775,457 110,557
20,238 2,885 24,009 3,423 (56,356) (8,035)
1,173,247 167,270 764,610 109,010 831,813 118,502
4.05 577 2.65 378 3.01 429
4.05 577 2.65 378 3.01 429
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12 31
2024 2023 2022
( ) ( ) ( )
1,193,485 170,155 788,619 112,433 775,457 110,557
(20,843) (2,972) 14,262 2,033 (47,208) (6,730)
(10,197) (1,454) (389) (55)
(10,646) (1,518) 14,651 2,089 (47,208) (6,730)
59 8 (618) (88) 1,215 173
(10,587) (1,509) 14,033 2,001 (45,993) (6,557)
24 3 24 3 24 3
1,504 214 9,135 1,302 6,922 987
(4,931) (703)
6,459 921 9,159 1,306 6,946 990
(89) (13) (79) (11) (95) (14)
6,370 908 9,080 1,295 6,851 977
(4,217) (601) 23,113 3,295 (39,142) (5.580)
20,238 2,885 24,009 3,423 (56, 356) (8,035)
1,169,030 166,669 787,723 112,306 792,671 113,011
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AB

AB

AB

AB
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12 31
2024 2023 2022
) ) )
45,388 6,471 45,985 6,556 42,850 6,109
11,732 1,673 7,646 1,090 8,318 1,186
(9,553) (1,362) (8,411) (1,199) (10,715) (1,528)
(61) ©) @ ®) 25 4
513 73 189 27 (385) (55)
AB 1,500 214
AB 5,892 840
49,519 7,060 45,388 6,471 45,985 6,556
4,590,619 654,485 4,648,113 662,681 4,336,211 618,214
1,161,515 165,597 756,964 107,920 823,495 117,406
(944,912) (134,716) (830,860) (118,456)  (1,059,105) (150,997)
(6,014) (857) (2,080) (297) 2,521 359
49,908 7,115 18,482 2,635 (38,286) (5,458)
AB 148,500 21,172
AB 583,277 83,158
4,999,616 712,795 4,590,619 654,485 4,648,113 662,681
(4,490) (640) (4,270) (609) (8,333) (1,188)
1,088 155 727 104 607 87
509 73 (947) (135) 3,456 493
(2.893) “412) (4,490) (640) (4,270) (609)
(76,363) (10,887) (95,318) (13,589) (119,470) (17,033)
(157,038) (22,389) (144,086) (20,542) (210,568) (30,021)
(49,894) (7,113) (17,562) (2,504) 40,346 5,752
216,133 30,814 179,724 25,623 198,783 28,340
4,796 684 879 125 (4,240) (604)
(169) @4
(62,366) (8,892) (76,363) (10,887) (95,318) (13,589)
(106,364) (15,164) (129,477) (18,460) (90,335) (12,879)
(10,587) (1,509) 14,033 2,001 (45,993) (6,557)
6,370 908 9,080 1,295 6,851 977
(110,581) (15,766) (106,364) (15,164) (129,477) (18,460)
4,873,295 694,786 4,448,790 634,264 4,465,033 636,580
4,572 652 12,607 1,797
12,607 1,797
3,940 562 743 106
(7,164) (1,021) (8,514) 1,214)
(264) (38)
1,348 192 4,572 652 12,607
4,874,643 694,978 4,453,362 634,916 4,477,640 638,377
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12 31
2024 2023 2022
) ) )
1,193,485 170,155 788,619 112,433 775,457 110,557
57,983 8,267 36,817 5,249 34,762 4,956
217,220 30,969 180,451 25,727 199,390 28,427
91,126 12,992 92,113 13,133 66,617 9,498
(5,503) (785) (7.810) (1,113) 40,857 5,825
36,551 5,211
(15,898) (2.267) (48,350) (6,893) 73,194 10,435
112,458 16,033 101,761 14,508 99,861 14,237
(134,555) (19,184)
(800) (114) 7,400 1,055
(130,901) (18,663) 14,050 2,003
14,309 2,040
28,424 4,052 (4,641) (662) 14,604 2,082
367,634 52,414 654,751 93,348 (18,474) (2.634)
(199,288) (28,412) 629,204 89,706 35,410 5,048
7,238 1,032 (10,656) (1,519) (10,331) (1,473)
(153,316) (21,858) (71,941) (10,257) (12,113) 1,727)
13,052 1,861 (36,263) (5.170) (5.487) (782)
272,280 38,819 167,712 23,911 23,295 3,321
10,498 1,497 19,125 2,727 (13,961) (1,990)
(10,821) (1,543) (42,992) (6,129) (31,471) (4,487)
(388,594) (55,402)  (1,451,280)  (206,909) 110,112 15,699
86,999 12,403 (6,992) (997) (8.424) (1,201)
26,113 3,723 (22,848) (3,257) (150, 285) (21,426)
(90,190) (12,858)  (107,738) (15,360) (109,182) (15,566)
1,406,304 200,497 872,292 124,363 1,121,231 159,854
(122,330) (17,441) (33,627) (4,794) (62,308) (8.883)
( 400 ) (40,196) (5,731)
(39,401) (5.617)
86,200 12,290
40,282 5,743
(115,727) (16,499) (33,627) (4,794) (22,026) (3,140)
(444,316) (63,346) 164,316 23,427 235,000 33,504
(11) 0] (25,411) (3,623)
(954,464)  (136,078)  (839,271)  (119,655) (1,069,820)  (152,524)
(181,169) (25,829)  (183,245) (26,125) 3,843 548
AB (770) (110) (2,164) (309) 1,590 227
AB
AB
178 25
AB (157,038) (22,389)  (144,086) (20,542) (210,568) (30,021)
EQH 150,000 21,386
(42,661) (6,082)
(9,362) (1,335) (4,870) (694) (2,131) (304)
(1,597,130)  (227,703) (1,009,320)  (143,899) (1,109,980)  (158,250)
(20,303) (2,895) 22,527 3,212 (56,234) (8,017)
(326,856) (46,600)  (148,128) (21,119) (67,009) (9,553)
1,160,889 165,508 1,309,017 186,627 1,376,026 196,180
834,033 118,908 1,160,889 165,508 1,309,017 186,627
125,839 17,941 155,335 22,146 78,434 11,182
51,799 7,385 57,216 8,157 55,473 7,909
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2024 2023 2022

4,080 1,085,141 154,709
5,072 723
296,750 42,308
13,191 1,881
231,385 32,989
589,169 83,998

EQH AB (185,101) (26,390)

EQH AB 185,101 26,390
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Societe Generale
AB
24
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2024 12 31 1.0
AB
EQH 61.9
AB 37.5
0.6
100.0
2.
GAAP
AB AB
VIE VOE
2023 11 FASB ASU 2023-07
280
ASU 2023 12 15 2024 12
15
2024 12 31
2023 12  FASB ASU  2023-09 740

2024 12 15
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- 220- 40
ASU 2026 12 15
AUM
AUM
AB
AUM
AUM

AUM
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NAV
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NAV
NAV
JV
2024 12 31
i
il
iii
AB
AB
EQH AB  EQH
EQH
VIE
VIE VIE
i VIE VIE
ii VIE VIE
VIE VIE
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VIE VOE
VOE
VOE VOE
VIE VOE
2024 AB Societe Generale SocGen
NA JV JV
AB NAJV SocGen
2024 BRS JV
2024 8,390 JV
JV
ASC 323 - JV
2024 12 31 NAJV 66.7%
49.0% 8,670
JV JV

2024 12 31
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2024 2023 12 31 2,240
2024 2023 12 31
2024 2023 12 31
2024 2023 12 31 2,910
1,020 2024
2023 12 31
2024 2023 12 31
AB
AB
AB
30 90
AB

360
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1 1 9
2024 30

2000

30

AB

AB

36
26
AB
AB
AB
1
ASC 805

49/144

EDINETOOOO

o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

2024
440

2022
2 9,190
5,980 Jv
AB AB
2023 2022
0 560



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

2022 0 5,000
2027 12 31
2024 2,850
2024 12 AB 3,400
2027 12 31 10 AB
1,880
2027 12 31 1,880 3,400
2023 12 31
3,850 2024 2020
250
2023 2019
2,840 2023
1,410 1,430
2023 2022
20
2024 12 31 1,510
9,980

1,530
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2023 12 31 6,460
4,940
1,520
2024 12 31 2,080 2023 12 31
2,840 2024 12 31 2,100 2023 12 31
7,900
2024 4,590 2023 4,690 2022 2,660
4,500 2,400
2024
440
2023
2022 2014 560
2022
1 4
CDSC
CDSC 2009 31
2024 2023
ROU
ROU
ROU
ROU
ROU

ASC 842-10-15-1
ASC 350
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Y
Vi 1
2024 AB SocGen
BRS BRS JV
2023 12 31 6,480 5,330
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
AB
50
250,000 100,000
100 2024 12
50 50%
50 AB
12 8 AB

2024 2023 2022
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AB
AB
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AB

AB AB
AB AB
AB
AB
AB
3 AB
AB AB
AB
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AB AB AB AB
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AB AB

AB
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560
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2024 2023
450 1,020
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AB
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12 31
2024 2023
4.5 4.7
156.2 144.4
1.8 2.0
60.1 62.6
10b5-1 10b-
SEC
AB
AB
410 2023
2023 12
AB
USs$
USs$
370
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2025
2024 12 31
1.0
2025 2 18

2024 2023
3.30

2024

2024

2024

2022
2.92

SEC

AB

2025 3 13

3.87
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2024 2023 2022 12 31
12 31
2024 2023 2022
3,171,175 2,830,557 2,825,791
270,964 144,911 145,247
1 96,222 386,142 416,273
337,999 284,057 290,740
12b-1 67,611 63,127 69,041
321,060 239,079 247,414
89,195 83,802 86,661
Jv 2 37,775
14,317 17,061 18,120
4,406,318 4,048,736 4,099,287
80,800 91,902 56,653
(13, 486) 14,206 (102,413)
1,507 479 763
68,821 106,587 (44,997)
4,475,139 4,155,323 4,054,290
1 2024 4 1 AB Societe Generale
AB
24
2 BRS JV
2024 2024 12 31
3,780
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1.0
99.0
12 31
2024 2023 2022
1,173,247 764,610 831,813
286,618 285,125 273,943
1
286,618 285,125 273,944
4.05 2.65 3.01
4.05 2.65 3.01
15¢3-3
12 31
2024 2023
31,934 18,882
169,502 128,771
388
10,831 21,151
18,397 57,624
286,721
6,100 6,517
11,331 10,609
535,204 243,554
2024 2023 12 31 4,280
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2024 2023 12 31
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2024 2023 12 31

15

15

Jv

ASC 321-10
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JV
2
12 31
2024 2023
14,622 14,372
8,731 6,132
5,891 8,240
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2024 2023 12 31

2024 12 31
157,787 2,835 33 (2,744)
27,368 4,881 4,656 1,690
17,667 367 14 310
199,720 4,172 9,099 (2,675)
216,468 663 1,087 (3,823)
50,459 8,023 55 (688)
669,469 20,941 14,944 (7,930)

2023 12 31
116,344 1 3,511 (2,038)
34,440 4,951 5,597 (82)
11,345 294 349 110
139,607 9,265 4,197 (6,850)
95,021 6 4,391 (5,443)
50,232 1 135 (2,107)
446,989 14,518 18,180 (16.,410)

2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023 12 31
1,040 570
1SDA
2024 2023 12 31 520 780
2024 BRS
2023 12 31

24
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BRS
2024
2024 BRS 200
2023 12 31 490
8.
15
2024 2023 12 31
2024 12 31
1,144 1,144 (1,044) - 100
20,941 20,941 - (10,357) 10,584
2023 12 31
23,229 23,229 (23,229) - -
14,518 14,518 - (5.691) 8,827
2024 2023 12 31
2024 12 31
14,944 14,944 - (5.188) 9,756
2023 12 31
125,101 125,101  (122,369) - 2,732
18,180 18,180 - (7,795) 10,385
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15

NAV 1
146,781 - - - 146,781
- 499,245 - - 499,245
2,835 18,106 - - 20,941
193,766 5,921 121 2,016 201,824
8,593 - - - 8,593
351,975 523,272 121 2,016 877,384
33 14,911 - - 14,944
- - 9,385 - 9,385
33 14,911 9,385 - 24,329

NAV 1
146,906 - - - 146,906
- 867,679 - - 867,679
1 14,517 - - 14,518
113,833 32,104 118 1,598 147,653
7,870 - - - 7,870
268,610 914,300 118 1,598 1,184,626
3,511 14,669 - - 18,180
- - 252,690 - 252,690
3,511 14,669 252,690 - 270,870
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° : 15¢3-3
° NAV
°
°
AUM
2024 2023 12 31
12 31
2024 2023
118 129
3 (1)
121 118
12 31
2024 2023
252,690 247,309
9,005 8,803
(130,901) 14,050
(2,640) (1,291)
- (16,181)
AB (118,769) -
9,385 252,690
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2022 5,000
2027 12 31
2024
2,850
2024 12 AB 3,400
2027 12 31 10 AB
1,880 2027 12 31
1,880 3,400
2023 12 31
3,850
2024 12 31 2.0 29.3 5.5
1.9 10.4 7.3
2023 12 31 2.0 83.9 10.3
1.9 10.4 4.6
2024 2023 12 31
10.
12 31
2024 2023
1 151,478 168,415
1 249,422 326,131
1 400,900 494,546
1 (152,227) (318,198)
1 248,673 176,348
1 2024 4 180
310
2024 2023 2022 12 31

4,490 4,490 3,970
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11.
2024 2023 12 31
12 31
2024 2023
303,564 187,870
(74,602) (66,899)
CDSC (46,255) (33,597)
182,707 87,374
2024 2023 2022 12 31 5,800
3,680 3,480
CDSC 2024 12 31
2025 76,415
2026 68,192
2027 36,553
2028 1,547
182,707
12.
AB
2026 10 13
AB
AB C
SCB LLC AB SCB LLC
AB
SCBLLC
2024 12 31

AB
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EQH
AB EQH
EQH 2024 8 30
EQH
EQH
EQH AB
2024 12 31
EQH
EQH
EQH
2024 2023 12 31 AB  EQH
2024 2023
9,420 4,310
EQH
EQH AB  EQH
EQH 2024
31
EQH
EQH
2024 2023 12 31 EQH
EQH 2023
4.6
2024 12 31
5,430 5.4
2024 2023
6,760 5.4
SCB
SCBLLC 2023 12 31
SCBLLC 2024 12 31
5,000
AB
2024 2023 12 31 SCB LLC
2024 2023
8.5 7.8
13.
IT
2024 2023 12 31
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2024 2023
EQH
2029 8 31
AB
EQH AB
AB
4.3 5.3 1,000
EQH
5.2 4.9
EQH
30 2029
EQH AB
EQH
2024 12 31
2024
360
2023 12 31
6,820
5.2
2024
AB
SCB LLC
60 110
20
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
441,662 312,588
504,171 357,623
19,548 18,975
(11,333) (7,797)
8,215 11,178
8,444 11,394
2024 2023 12 31
12 31
2024 2023
109,580 94,784
4,361 4,779
325 348
4,686 5,127
1 38,814 35,525
(33,068) (33,577)
120,012 101,859
1
12 31
2025 59,311 4,341 63,652
2026 61,279 2,973 64,252
2027 58,405 1,216 59,621
2028 52,160 297 52,457
2029 49,235 - 49,235
415,489 - 415,489
695,879 8,827 704,706
(191,708) (383)
504,171 8,444
166,000 2024

13.65
2.30

4.41%
3.61%
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
1
217,318 32,407
1,097 4,106
1
13
IT 2024 12 31
2025 67.6 .3) 65.3
2026 64.8 Q.7 62.1
2027 60.4 Q.7 57.7
2028 52.9 Q.7 50.2
2029 49.8 Q.7 47.1
2030 419.5 @.7) 414.8
715.0 (17.8) 697.2
13
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AB
2024 AB  SocGen JV NA JV
BIS SocGen 6,000
SocGen NAJV 50 AB
BIS 66.7 2024 12 31
AB
AB SocGen Canada SG Canada C
SCB Canada SocGen
Canada NAJV 50%
SG Canada SCB Canada
AB SG Canada 66.7%
2024 12 31 AB
2024 Reinsurance Group of America, Incorporated RGA
RGA
AB RGA
2024 12 31 10
15.
VIE
AB AB
VIE VOE
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
VIE VOE VIE VOE
1,671 318 1,989 7,572 167 7,739

82,027 58,765 140,792 286,619 110,555 397,174
1,317 13,484 14,801 15,010 10,289 25,299
85,015 72,567 157,582 309,201 121,011 430,212
345 1,371 1,716 9,699 2,838 12,537
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31,670 16,819 48,489 202,882 6,538 209,420
AB 53,000 54,377 107,377 96,620 111,635 208,255

85,015 72,567 157,582 309,201 121,011 430,212

2024 2023 12 31 2,900
2024 12 31 1
2023 12 31 209,420
(206,806)
45,875
2024 12 31 48,489
2024 2023 12 31
2024 12 31
- VIE 15,240 66,787 - 82,027
- VOE 249 58,516 - 58,765
- VIE 48 53 - 101
- VOE - 11,483 - 11,483
15,537 136,839 - 152,376
- VIE 72 13 - 85
72 13 - 85
2023 12 31
- VIE 49,455 237,164 - 286,619
- VOE 9,036 101,519 - 110,555
- VIE 2,139 2,763 - 4,902
- VOE - 8,775 - 8,775
60, 630 350,221 i 410,851
- VIE 944 1,587 - 2,531
944 1,587 - 2,531
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31
31 VIE 240
2024 2023 12 31
10
31 VIE
31 VIE 30
31 VOE 1,150 880
2024 2023 12 31
10
31 VOE
31 VOE
31
- 101 - 0) 99
- 11,483 - - 11,483
- 4,902 - (1,415) 3,487
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2024 12 31

2024 2023 12 31
2024 12 31
- VIE 85
2023 12 31
- VIE 2,531
VIE
2024 12 31
VIE
1,520 2023 12 31
546
1,450
16.
SCB LLC
SEC
150
2024 12 31
6,170
SEC
2,720

SCB LLC
SCB LLC

85

2,531

VIE
1,730

VIE

ABI

24
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1,030 VIE
SCB LLC
9,040 2,870
ABI
SEC
2,750 30
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18.
2024 2023 2022
1,970 1,900 1,750
2024 2023 2022 930 1,170
1,020
2000 10 AB
2008 12 31
2024 AB 2024 22
2024 12 3,500
2024 12 31
1,310 2025 1
2024 12 31
6,860 6,330
ERISA
2024 2025
530
12 31
2024 2023
98,426 100,480
5,025 5,199
(39,246) -
7,655 (984)
(3,281) (6,269)
68,579 98,426
101,376 95,990
4,476 11,655
(39,246) -
(3,281) (6.269)
63,325 101,376
(5,254) 2,950
2015 12 31 65
2024 2023 2022
2024 2023 2022
5,534 8,815 6,519
24 24 24
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5,558 8,839 6,543
(20) () (33)
5,538 8,830 6,510
550 1,370 2024 12 31
1,310 60
820 820
220
570
30
880
90 50
50
650 3,870
170 100
3,400 50
40
AB
2024
ocl
ocl
5,534 573 328 6,435
24 - - 24
5,558 573 328 6,459
(20) () (65) (89)
5,538 569 263 6,370
2023 12 31
2024 2023
(22,899) (28,433)
(611) (635)
(23,510) (29,068)
147 168
(23,363) (28,900)

2025

74/144




EDINETOOOO

o o {02225 )

OOoooooooooooooood

2024 2023 12 31 6,860 9,840
2024 2023 12 31 5.15
5.40 2024 12 31 2025
2025 68,865
12 31
2024 2023 2022
5,025 5,199 3,958
(5,056) (4,776) (6,591)
24 24 24
13,104 - 1,678
666 952 1,042
13,763 1,399 111
12 31
2024 2023 2022
5.40% 5.50% 2.90%
5. 25% 5.25% 5.250
5.25
2024 12 31 MP-2021 2023
2022
PRI-2012
2024 2024
12 31
2024 2023
% 28%
88 62
12 10
100% 100%
100
2024 2023 12 31
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5,618 - - 5,618
- 55,839 - 55,839
- - - 1,868
5,618 55,839 - 63,325
944 - - 944
- 15,764 - 15,764
2,271 - - 2,271
- 46,443 - 46,443
9,821 - - 9,821
10,231 - - 10,231
23,267 62,207 - 85,474
_ _ - 15,902
23,267 62,207 - 101,376
2023
U.S.

10
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7,020 6,430
2017 30 2017
2017 AB
i AB
i
iii
iv
AB
2017
6,000 3,000
2024 12 31 35,854,070 AB
2017 9 30
24,145,930 AB
2023 12 31 32,738,157 AB
2017 9 30
27,261,843 AB
1934 10D-1
2023 11 15
NYSE
10- K 97.01
EQH
EQH
AB
2024 2023 2022

AB

29
2017

AB

2017
2017

AB
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8,430
2024 2023 2022 12 31
800 8,300 6,010
AB
2017
AB
ii AB
AB AB
2017
ii
AB
AB
2027 30
AB
AB
2017
2010
2024 12 31
2017 AB
2017
2010
2023 12 31
2017 AB
AB
NYSE 303A.14
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10D(b) (1)
AB
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AB
2024 2023 2022
29,952 30,102 30,870
34.06 33.89 38.55
1.0 1.0 1.2
2024 470 2024 12
AB 440 2023
AB 30 AB
30.56 36.19
2023 520 2023 12 AB
500 2022 AB
20 AB 30.56 38.84
2022 420 2022 12 AB
380 2021 AB
40 AB 38.84 50.94
AB
3 12 1 33.3
AB
10
2024 2023 2022
1.2 0.5 0.5
$28.46 - $37.26 $27.86 - $38.58 $34.86 - $49.90
17.6 30.1 35.0
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AB
AB 2024
AB
AB
2023 12 31 13,447,555 35.02
5,922,324 35.29
(6,740,540) 36.26
(210,088) 35.15
2024 12 31 12,419,251 34.47
2024 2023 2022 AB
4,440 3,580 4,620 2024 12 31
AB 12,419,251
9,189,286
3,229,965 2024 12 31 AB
9,350
5.39
20.
2024 2023 12 31 AB
2024 2023
286,609,212 285,979,913
1 12,627,827 3,283,504
2 3 (7,129,132) (2,654,295)
12 31 292,107,907 286,609,212
2024 12 19 EQH EQH AB EHQ AB
AB 1,000
AB 2
AB 2024 12 19 EQH AB 5,211,194  AB
AB AB 10
- K 10.32
2024 12 19 AB 4,215,140 AB EQH
12024 12 19  EQH
4,215,140 5,211,194 10- K 10.32 10.33
22024 12 19  EQH 5,211,194
10- K 10.32
3 2024 2023 21,877 5,695  AB
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AB

UBT

FIN 48
UBT

ASC 740

UBT
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AB 4.0 UBT
AB AB
AB AB EQH
EQH
1 AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB
AB
12 31
2024 2023 2022
1,075,305 714,732 689,278
183,323 102,938 125,818
1,258,628 817,670 815,096
UBT 12,458 7,838 5,996
899 2,855 1,457
1,345 914 931
51,764 35,906 34,327
66,466 47,513 42,711
(1,323) (18,462) (3,072)
65,143 29,051 39,639
UBT 4.0
12 31
2024 2023 2022
50,345  4.0% 32,707  4.0% 32,604 4.0 %
2,236 0.2 4,538 0.6 1,460 0.2
42,384 3.4 36,788 4.5 32,664 4.0
- - (2,838)  (0.3) - -
(634) (0.1)  (1,049)  (0.1) (98) -
911 0.1 1,750 0.2 1,089 0.1
126 - 3,414 0.4 (1,535) (0.2)
(16) (22,447)  (2.7) - -
3,474 0.3 3,553 0.4 5,366 0.7
(29) - (1,604) (0.2) (5,275)  (0.6)
(33,654) (2.7)  (25,761) (3.2)  (26,636) (3.3)
65,143 5.2% 29,051 3.6% 39,639  4.9%
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12 31
2024 2023 2022

- 2,838 2,838

- (2,838) -

- - 2,838
2024 2023 2022 12 31

2024
2023 2022 12 31
2020

2023 3 2020 2021 AB UBT
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12 31
2024 2023

14,242 11,360

11,295 12,519

12,977 11,890

3,647 3,706

5,940 4,324

- 33,427

34,069 -

5,300 5,710

9,181 8,988

96,651 91,924

(25,996) (28,579)

70,655 63,345

12,254 11,454

5,697 -

5,168 3,730

2,485 3,020

25,604 18,204

45,051 45,141

2024 2023 12 31 2,600 2,860
2024  BRS JV
4,020 v
5 2024 2023 12 31
5,670 4,400 5
2024 12 31 2,960

610
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22.
ASC 280
CODM AB CODM
CODM
CODM
CODM
CODM
ASC 280
CODM
CODM
CODM
2024 2023 2022 12 31
12 31
2024 2023 2022
1 700,796 666,670 659,983
1 2,311,317 1,926,020 2,000,908
1 1,245,891 1,052,843 1,004,003
2 96,222 386,142 416,273
205,426 231,189 39,561
4,559,652 4,262,864 4,120,728
84,513 107,541 66,438
4,475,139 4,155,323 4,054,290
1
22024 4 1 AB Societe Generale
AB
24
2024 2023 2022
us 13 11 11%

10
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12 31
2024 2023 2022
1

2,641,634 2,527,498 2,381,958
1,046,793 886,256 933,642
487,409 375,222 382,457
299,303 366,347 356,233
1,833,505 1,627,825 1,672,332
4,475,139 4,155,323 4,054,290

4,187,885 4,073,198

57,140 53,670

4,245,025 4,126,868

1 10
2024 2023 2022 12 31 10
23.
12 31
2024 2023 2022

1,597,253 1,377,916 1,452,885
711,156 575,647 590,580
80,947 76,440 79,167
7,400 9,398 8,366
2,396,756 2,039,401 2,130,998

84/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

EQH
EQH EQH
EQH EQH
EQH
12
12 31 EQH
12 31
2024 2023 2022
180,511 165,748 148,377
566 617 688
181,077 166,365 149,065
3,645 3,492 3,897
2,362 2,909 2,882
EQH 25,976 37,304 11,372
3,469 2,949 2,697
35,452 46,654 20,848
35,515 9,055
543 709
EQH (2,800) 4,719
EQH (710,000)  (900,000)

(676,742)  (885,517)

AB
2024 2023 12 31
820 870
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2022 11 22 AB
SocGen 51
2023 AB  SocGen
Jv JV
2024 4 1
AB NAJV 66.7
AB NA JV
SocGen 3 NA JV
AB JV
JV 400
AB
SocGen NAJV 51%
AB
NA JV
JV SocGen
SocGen 5 Jv 100
AB BRS
SCB LLC
SCB LLC SCB LLC
AB
BRS JV
2024 12 31

3,780

SocGen

100

AB  SocGen
SocGen

AB Jv

SocGen AB

260

AB

AB
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AB 49
NA
51
AB
AB BRS
Jv2
400 AB  SocGen
AB
AB
400 AB
SocGen
SocGen AB
2024
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BRS 1,210

2024 4 1

338,226

31,427
2,817
14,719
9,555
5,472
44,751
4,422
3,850
159,826
615,065

15,271
14,110
134,979
10,370
42,069
86,200
302,999

2024 3,460

2024 4 1

303,980

V 283,871
(312,066)

AB (102,550)
(10,197)

(28,483)

134,555

1,210 BRS Jv
8,390 Jv
Jv

AB 260
AB AB SocGen
NAJV 51%
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BRS

2024 12 31

303,980
(338,226)
(5,950)
(40,196)

SocGen
6,910 6,910 2024 31

AB SocGen
2023 12 31 AB

2023 12 31 660

12 31

2023

153,047

32,669
74,351
15,326
17,029

5,807
104,228
5,032
4,061

159,826

(6,600)

564,776

39,359
16,885
67,938
29,160
153,342

2023 12 31
5,300
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Part il
AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
Yaads Ended Decembar 31
{in thousands,
except unit amounts)
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 AX2.044 1,000,103
Cash and securities segregated, at fair value (coat $495,391 and $859, 448) 500,045 85T BED
Recenables, net:

Brokars and dealers B3I 53,144

Brokerage clients 1432372 1,314,658

AB furds fees 45T 351 343,334

Cther fers 152,336 125,500
Investimanls:

Joind venlures 288 T2 —

Othar 248,483 243, 554
Fuets of conscldated company-sponsored invesiment funds

Cash and cash equivalents 1589 T.739

Irveabments 140,792 AT AT4

CQther assats 14,801 25,259
Furmnilure, equipment and leasahold improvements, net 248,673 176,348
Goodwill 3598501 3,598 591
Imangible assets. net 215054 264 555
Deferred sales commissions, nel 182707 B7 374
Right-of-use assats 445877 323768
FAussets held Tor sale - 564,776
Other assats 258,318 216,213

Total assets 5 8071927 9,600 808

224 Annual Report LT
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Part il
Years Ended December 31
{in thoumands,
et undl amounis)
LIABILITIES, REDEEMAEBLE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST AND CAPITAL
Liabdities:
Payables:
Brokers and dealars % 182570 % 58175
Brokerage clients 18353843 2200835
AB mutual funds 8230 B4
Contimgent considemation liability 5,385 252 650
HAccounts payable and accrued expenses 425 875 172,163
Leasa labdities 512615 25507
Liabilities of consolidaled company-sponsoned invesiment funds 1,718 12,537
Agcrued compensation and benafits 391,161 T2 B
Db 710,000 1,154 316
Liabilities hedd for sale - 153,342
Total liabilities 4,148,795 4,947 024
Commiments and contingencies (See Nole 14)
Redeemable non-coniroling interest of consolidated entities 48 485 208 420
Capdal:
General Fartner 43519 45,380
Lemited pariners; 292,107 907 and 286,609,212 units issued and oulstanding 4,509,616 4,500,619
Recervables frem afliliates {2,883 {4.450)
AR Holding Ursts held for long-term incentive compensation plans |62, 365) (76.363)
Agcumulated olher comprehensive (loss) {110,581} (1005, 252
Partners’ capital attributable to AB Unitholders 4,873.295 4 448,790
Hon-redeemable non-cortreding interests in consolidated enlibes 1.348 4572
Total capital 4,874,642 4,453,362
Total abiiities, non-centroliing Interest and capital 5 8071827 & 5600808

Ses Accompanying Motes 1o Consolidated Financal Stabemerts

58 AllianceBerntlein
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Part il

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Yeurs Ended Decamber 31

{in thowsands, axcepl per Lt amauwnts)

Revenues:
Investment advisory and senices fees 5 344203 0§ 29704B8 0§ 29TI0E
Bernstein research serices 98,222 386,142 16,273
Drstribition revenues V26,670 585 253 BT 155
Dividend and imerest income 165,313 155,443 123,08
Imosstment (losses) gains {13.485) 14,206 (102.413)
Other ravenues 142,784 101,342 105,544
Total revenues 4,558,652 i, 262 864 4,120,728
Less: Broker-dealer related interest expensa 84,513 107 541 66, 438
el nevenues 4475129 4,155 323 4,064 280
Expanses:
Employes compensation and benafits 1,804,767 1,768 153 1,666 636
Framation and séracing
Disinbution-relsted payments T42 422 610,358 628,572
Amortization of defemed sales commassions oF BB3 3BT 34, 762
Trade execution, marketng, T&E and other 182,145 215,643 215558
General and admanisbrative 698,215 581.571 541,635
Contingent payment arrangements {121.896) 22853 6,563
Imterest an boroewings 43,508 54,354 17,806
Amertization of infangible assels 45,613 45 854 26,5684
Tatal expenses 3,351,066 3,337.653 3,238,184
Operating income 1,124,073 BAT.ETD 815,086
Gan an dwestitune 134,555 — —
Non-operating Income 134,555 - -
Pre-tax Income 1,258,628 B1T.6TD 815,006
Ireor tay 65,143 29051 30,639
Net Income 1,193,485 788619 TTEAST
Met income (loss) of conaalidated entites atiributable to nor-centrolling interasts 20,238 24,009 (56,356)
Net income attributable to AB Unitholders 5 173147 5 TE4610 5 831,813
Nel income per AB Unit:
Basic 5 408 5 268 0§ 3
Diluted 5 405 % 265 & 3m

See Accompanying Mates to Conselidated Financial Staberments

2024 Annual Report Ba
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Par il

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Yeuis Ended Desembes 31

{in thouma nids)
MNet income $ 1103485 3 TERB19 £ Tr5457
Other comprehensive income (less):
Farelgn curnency translation adjustiments, before reclassifcation and tax (20.843) 14,262 (47 208)
Less: reclassification adjustment for (kosses) included in net income upon liguidation (10,197 (383 -
Foreign curmency translation adjusiments, before tax (10.646) 14,651 (47 .208)
Income tax banefit (experse) = (E18) 1,215
Foreign curmency translation adjusiments, net of lax [10.587) 14,033 (45.993)
Changes in employes benelit related fems:
Amertization of prior serice cosl 24 24 24
Recognized actuarial gain 1,504 9135 8922
Less: reciassification adjusiment for (losses) included in net income upon redirement pan
liguadation {4.931) - -
Changes in employes benefit related fems 6455 9,158 6,946
Incame tax (expanse) (BS) (79 {35)
Employes benefit related items, net of tax 6,370 5.080 6,851
Ditear comprehansve (loss) gain (4.217h 23.113 (39.142)
Less: Comprehensive incoma (less) in consolidated entites afiributable to non-controlling
Interests 20,238 24,009 (55,358)
Comprehensive Income altributable (o AB Unitholders 5 1,600 § Tar ey % TaZ,ET1
See Accompanying Motes to Consclidated Financeal Statemants
&0 AllianceBernstein

92/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

Part il

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Partners’ Capital
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Yaars Endod Dicambaer 31

{in theouesandsy

General Partner’s Capltal

Balance, beginning of year 5 45388 % 45985 5 42,850
el incomae 11,732 7648 B8
Cash disinbutions 1o Genaral Pariner {9.553) {8411 (10.715)
Long-lerm intentive compensabon plans activity {61) (21) &2
|ssuance (retirement) of AB Uinits, net 513 189 (385)
lgsuance of AB Unils for EQH purchase agreement 1.500 - —
lesuance of AB Units for CarVal acquisition — = 5Ea2
Balance, end of year 49,519 45 388 45,085
Limited Partners’ Capltal
Balance, beginning of year 4. 590,618 4,648,113 4,338,211
el mcome 1,161,515 756 964 B3, 485
Cash disinibutions 1o Unithalders {Bedd 812) {830,660) (1,059,105)
Long-lerm incentive compensabion plans activity (E.014) (2,080) 2,521
lssuance (retirement) of AB Units, met 49 908 18 482 (38,286)
|ssisarice af AB Units far EQH purchads agreemant 148,500 — —_
|ssuance of AB Units for Carval scquisition — — 583,277
Balance, end of year 4,998, 618 4,500,619 4,648 113
Receivables from Affiliates
Balance, beginning of year [4.490) {4,270) (8,333}
Long-femm incentive compensation awards expenss 1,088 var o7
Capital contrivutions from (te) AB Halding 509 (947) 3456
Balance, end of year (2,893} {4,480) 4,270}
AB Holding Units held for Long-term Incentive Compensation Plans
Balance, beginning of year [78,383) {25,318) {119,470}
Purchases of AB Holding Uinits ko fund leng-term compensation plans, nel (157.038) {144 .088) (210.568)
(lssuance) retirernert of AB Lirits, met [49.894) {17,562) 40,345
Long-ferm incentive compensabion awards expense HEAZI 179724 198,783
Re-valuation of AB Haldong Units baeld in rabbi trust 4,795 &7 {4.240)
Other - = {1693
Balance, end of year [6:2.366) {T6,363) (85.318)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive |Loss)

Balance, beginning of year (106,364} (125477) [80.235)
Foreign currency translation adjustimerd, net of tax (10.58T) 14,033 (43.993)
Changes in employes banafil related fems, met of tax 670 5,080 6,851
Balance, end of year [110,581) (108, 384) {129.477)
Total Pariners™ Capital attributable to AB Unitholders A.873,285 4,448,750 4,455,033
Non-redeemable Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities
Balance, beginning of year 4,572 12,607 —
Carval acquisition — — 12607
Met mecame 3.940 743 —_
Distributions to non-controlling interests, nel (7164} (B.514) —
Adjustrmant = {264} —-—
Balance, end of year 1,348 4,572 12,607
Todal Capital 2 AETAE43 5 4453382 0§ A4TTE40

See Accompanying Mobes to Conselidated Financial Stabernents

&1 AllianceBarmalein
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Part il
AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Yiears Endled Desamber 31
T IR TR
{in isoumandy)
Cash Nlows frem operaling acthiles:
Net income $ 1,183,485 ] Ta8.818 ] TTEAST
Adjustments 1o reconcile nel income 1o net cash provided by operating acthities:
Amortization of deferred sales commissians 57,983 35817 34,762
Nen-cash long-tem incentive compensalion expense 2T 220 180451 158,380
Depreciation and other amotizalon 81,125 92113 BE6TT
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments 15.503) (78100 40,857
Exquity ir earmngs of equity method imvestments 36,551 - -
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments of consolidated company-sponsored irvestiment funds (15 858y (48,3500 73,154
Nom-cash lease axpanse 112,458 101,761 949,861
(Gain) on divestiture (134.555) — —
[(Gain) loss on assets held for sale — (B00) 7400
Remédsurement of contingent paymend amangements (120.909) 14,060 —
Retirernent plan loss 14,300 - -
Other, mst 28,424 (d,Gd1} 14,604
Changes in assets and labdibes
Dhecredse (INCremss) in stounities, segregated 367,634 654,751 (18.474)
(Increase) decrease in recaivables [ 1509.288) 25204 35,410
Decreass {Increass) in imestments T.238 {10,656) (10.331)
(Inzreasa) in deferred sales commissions (153.316) {71,841) {12113
Decrease (increase) in ofler assels 13,052 {36,263) {5,487
Decrease n nvestments of consolidated company-sponsored imvesiment funds 2T2.280 187,712 23285
Decrease (Increass) in other assels of consohdated company-spansored investment funds 10,458 19,125 (13.961)
{Decreass) in ather liabilities of conschdaled company-sponsored investment furds, net (0821) 142,957 [31,471)
(Decreasa) increase in payables {380 504) 1,451, 280) 10,112
Irerease (decraase) in actounts payable and acerled expenses 865,909 (6,063 {B.424)
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation and benafits 2,113 (22,848) [ 150.285)
Cash payments to refeve operaling laase |iabilities (@0.190) (107, 738) (10, 182)
Net cash provided by oparating activities 1,406,304 a72.292 1,921,231
Cash flows from imesting activities:
Purchases of fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements (122330 {33,627 (&2.308)
Dwvestiture of business {includes 5304 0 millicn in cash procesds) (40.196) - —
Capital contributions (e equily method invesimants [35.401) — —
Debt repayments from equily method imvesiments 85,200 — —
Acquisiion of businesses, net of cash acquired = = 40,282
Net cash used in investing activities (115,727} {33,627) [22.026)
Cash flows from financing actities:
{Repaymenl) Proceeds fram debl. net (@44, 3163 164316 Z35.000
{Decreass) increase in averdralis payable K — {25,411}
Cestributions 1o General Pariner and Unithalders (554 454) {838,271) (1,085.820)
{Redemplions) subscriptions of pon-carroling inlerests of corsobdaled company-sponsoned
voeabment funds, nel (181,168) {183,245) 3,843
Capital conlributions (10) fram AB Holdng {770y (2,164) 1,500
Additional imestments by AB Holding with proceeds from exercise of compensatory oplions b buy
AH Holding Units — = 178
Purchases of AB Holding Units to fund long-term incentive compensation plan awards, net (157.038) {144 088} (210.568)
Proceeds from issuance of private unis io EQH 150,000 —_ _
Paymani of acquistion-refated debt obfigation - — (42 561 )
Other, net {9.362) (4,870 (2131)
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Net eash used in financing activities {1,587 130} {1,009,220) [1,109,950)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash egquivadents (20,303 22827 (55.234)
Net [decrease] in cash and cash equivalents |326.856) [148,128) (67003}
Cash and cash equivalents as of begirming of the period 1. 160,69 1,300,017 1,376,028
Cash and cash equivalents as of end of the period 5 834,033 § 1,160889 § 1,300.017
Cash paid:

Ineresd paid 3 12583 3 195335 § TH 434
Inceme taxes pakl 51,788 57216 55,473
Maon-cash investing activities:

Fair value of assets acquired (eaciuding cash acquired of zero , zero and $40.8 milien, for 2024,

2023 pnd 2022 respactively) 5 — & — & 108514

Fair value of defered tax assel reconded — — 5072
Fair value of labilties assumed - — 296,750
Fair value of non-redeemable non-contreding interest recorded - — 13191

Non-cash financing activities:

Payables recorded under contingent payment arrangements 2 - % - & M 305
Equity consaderation issued in connection with acquisition - — 530 165
Retirernent of AB Uns for EQH Exchange Agreement (185,100} — —
Issuance of AB Units for EQH Exchange Agreement 185,101 — —

Ses Accompanying Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

&2 allianceBernstein
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Part il

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The words “we” and “our” refer coliscively fo AlancaBemstein LF and itz subsidiaras AR or fo their afficers and employsas. Simdacy, the word
“company” refers bo A8, Cross-references arg in fabcs.

1. Business Description and Organization’
We provide diversdfied irvestment management, research and relabed senices globailly to a beoad range of cheris. Ouwr principal senices include:

« Institutional Services—senscing our institutional clients, including privabe and public penaion plans, foundations and endowments, INSUMANCE COMpanies,
central banks and govemments worldwide, and affiliates such as Equilable Holdings, In:. ("EQH") and its subsidianes, by means of saparately managed
Bccounts, sub-advisory relabionships, structured products, collective investment trusts. muhml funds, hedge funds and other invesiment vehicles.

= Retail Services—sanacing olf refad clients, primanly by means of retal mulual funds sporsoded by AB or an affillated company, sub.advidary
relationships with mutual funds sponsored by thind parties, separately managed account programs sponsored by financial intermediaries worldwide snd
ciher imesiment vehicles.

= Private Wealth Management Services—senicing our private clients, including high-net-worth mdividuals and families, trusts and estates, charftable
foundations, parnerships, private and family corpomtions, and other entities, by means of separately managed accounts, hedge funds, mutual funds and
ciher imiestment vehicles,

We also provide destribution, sharehalder sendcing, raneher agency sarvices and admenistrative services bo the mutual funds we BporsEos.
Qur high-quality, in-depth research is the foundation of our asset management and private wealth management businesses. Our research disciplnes include

economic, fundamental equily, ficed income and gquanttathee research In addion, we have experise n mulb-asset stralegies, wealth management,
emdronmental, social and carporabe governance "ESGT), and allernatie imvestments.

We provide a broad range of investment services with expertse in:

» Actively managed equily stretegies soross global and regional universes, as well &8 capitalization ranges, conceniration ranges and Imestment
sirategies, includsng value, growth and core equities;

= Actively managed iraditional and unconstrained fixed income sirategies, including taxable and tax-exermpl siralegies;

= Actively managed altermative irmvesiments, including fundamental and syslemalically-driven bedge funds, fund of hedge funds and diresl assels [eg.,
direct lending, real esiale deblt and private equety);

= Portfolios with Purpose, mcluding Sustamable, Impact and Responsible+ (Climate-Conscious and ESG leaders) equty, feed income and mulli-asset
siralegies that addreas owr clients’ dessre to irses! their capital with a dedicated ESG foous, while pursuing strong imestment returns;

= Multi-asset services and salulions, ncluding dynamic asset allocabon, cuslomized larget-dale funds and langet-rmak funds; and
+ Passively managed equity and fived incoma strategies. induding index. ESG index and enhanced index siralegies.

il 1, 2024 AB and Socksts G lo, o koding Europ bark, complsted their ransaction 1o form & jpinty ownied aquity resoarch provider and cosh aquity rading
pebrtreter feo institutional irvestors, AR has deconsabdated the Borratein B h Senicas b ard poniriadad B busi b tha joint vonbuee. For furthee dscussion,
s Note T4 Diveaniune,

2024 Annual Report 63
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Pan il

Organization

AllianceBamstein Conporation (an indirect whally-owned subsidiary of EQH. "General Partner”) is the genaral pastner of both AllianceBemstein Holding L.P
{"AB Holding'} and AB. AlkanceBernstein Corparation owns 100,000 general parinership units in AB Holding and a 1.0% general partnarship inferest in A8

As of December 31, 2024, the cwnership structure of AB, including Bmited partnership units cutstanding as wedl as the general partner's 1.0% interest, was
as follows:

ECH and ils subsklianes £15%

AB Halding EE]

Unafikated holders 08
100.0 %

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Ther consolidated financial sialements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principbes generally accepied in the United Stales of America
{("US GAAP"). The preparafion of the consclidated financial statements requires management o make certain eslimates and assumplions that affect the
reported amaunts of asseds and liabillies and dsclogure of contingent assels and labilites af the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the
repored amaounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting pericds. Actual resulls cowld differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consohdated financial stalements mclude AB and its majonty-owned andfor conlrolled subsadianes, and the consobdaled entitses thal ane considered bo
be variable imerest entties ("VIES™) and voting imereal ertilies ("VOES™) in which AB has a centrolling firancial intesest. Mon-contralling mberests on the
consolidated statements of financial condition include the portion of consolidated company-sponsored imvestment funds i which we do nat hane direct
equity ewnership, ARl significant inler-company transactions and balances among the consclidated entities have been eliminated,

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements or Accounting Pronouncements
Mot Yet Adopted

Recently Adapted Accounling Pransancements

In November 2023, Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASE") isswed ASL 202307, Segment Reporing (Topic 2800 Improvemen(s fo Reporfable
Segment DEclasures. which rquined disclosure of ncremental segment information on an anmsl and inlenm basis. This ASU & effective for fiscal years
baginning after December 15, 2023, and inlenm perieds within fiscal years beginmng afler December 15, 2024, and requires retrespective application 1o all
prior peqods presented in the firancial staternents. We adopbed thes standard eMective for our financial slataments issued for fiscal year ended Decamber 31,
H24 The adophion of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial conditicn o results of operations.

Ascounting Pronouncements Nod Yed Adapled

In Decembear 2023, the FASE msued ASU 2023-09, income Taxes {Topie T40) Improvernanfs to Income Tax Disciosures. Ths amendment is expected to
enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income lax disclosures by requiring public business entities, on an annual basis, to disclose specilic
catisgaries in e rabe reconciliation, addibanal information for reconciling Rems that meed a quantistive threshold and ceain infoarmation aboul income taxes
paid, This revided guidance is effective for inancial sialements issued for fiscal yeans beginning after Dacember 15, 2024, The revised guidance will not
have a maberial impact on our financial condition of results of cperabions.
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In November 2024, the FASE isswed ASU 2024-03, Income Sfatement - Reparfing Comprahensive incomea - Expanse Dreaggragabon Disclosures (Sublepc
280-40); Disaggregabion of Income Stafement Expenses. This amendment is expecied to improve financial reparling by reguiring that public business
entities disclose addiional information abou! specific expense calegories in the nodes to fnancial latements af inlenm and annual reporting periods. This
mfgrmalion is nol generally presented in the Bnancial slatements today, The amendments in this update do nol change or remove cument experss
disclosure reguirements. This ASU (& effective for annual reporing penods beganning after Decamber 15, 2026, and interim fepodting penods beginning alter
December 15, 2027 Early adoption is permitted. The amendments in this update should be appled either prospectively 1o financial statemeants ssued for
reporting periods after the effective date of this update o retrespectively 1o any of all periods presanted in the Snancial sislements. We are cumently
ervaluating the impacts of the niew standard,

Revenue Recognition

Investment Advisory and Services Fees

AB provides assel management sendces by managing customer assets and seeking to delver investment reburms to investors. Each irvesbment
management contracl between AB and a customer creates a distingl, separately identifiable performance obligation for each day the cuslomer's assels are
managed as the cuslomer can benefit from each day of senvice. In accordance with ASC B0E, a series of distind goods and services thal are substantially
the same and have the same patiern of transier (o the customer are reated as a single perfarmance obligation. Accordingly, we have debermined that our
mvwestment and advisory sendces are performed over fime and enlitke us to variable consaderation earned based on the value of the investors” assals under
management {“ALM.

We caloutate AUM wsing established market-based valuation methods and fair valuation [non-shsenmable market) methods, Market-based valuation methods
include: kast salefsettle prces from an exchange for actively-draded lated equities, options and fulures; evaluated bed prices from recognized pricing vendorns
for fixed income, asset-backed or moripage-backed ssues; mid prices from recognized pricing vendors and brokers for credit defaull swaps: and quoled bids
or spreads from pricing vendors and brokers for other derivatve preducts. Fair valuation methods include: discounted cash flow models o any other
methodology that is validated and approved by our Valuation Commiies (fee paragraph mmediately befow for additional information about ouwr Valuation
Commiiles), Fair valualion méthods are used only where ALUM cannol be valued using marketbased valuation methods, such as in the case of privabe
equily of Hiquid securities.

The Vakeation Commities, which consists of senior officers and employees, is resporsible for overseeing the pricing and valuation of all imestments held in
client and AB portlolics, The Valuation Committes has adopted a Statement of Pricing Policies describing printiples and peoficies thal apply to pricing and
valulng irvestrments held in these pertiobos. We also have a Pricng Group, which reports (o the Valuation Committee and i responsible for oversesing the
pricing process for all imesiments We recosd as revenve mvestment advisory and sendces basa fees, which we generally calculate as a percentage of
AUM. &t month-end, all the components of the transaction prce (i.e., the base fee calcuation) are no longer variable and the value of the consideration is
determined. These feas are not subject to claw back and there & minimal probability that a significant reversal of the revenue recorded will cocur,

The transaction price for the assel management performance abiigation for cenain investment advsary cortracts, including those associaled with hedge
funds and othar alemative invesiments, provide for a performance-based fee (ncluding carmed interest), in addition to a base advisary fee, which is
calculated as either a percantage of absolute investment results o a perceniage of invesiment resulls in excess of a staled banchmark cver a specified
period of ime, The performance-based fees are forms of vanable comsderation and are therefons exchded from the ransaction pnce unbl @ becomes
probable that there will not be signéficant reveraal of the cumulative revere recognized. Al each reporting date, we evaluate the constraining factons,
disciassad balow, surrounding the varable consideration 1o determine the extent to which, if any, revenues assacmaled with the performance-based fee can
be recognized.

Constraining factons mpacting the amount of vanable consideration inciuded in the lransadion price include; the contractual cliw-back provisions fo which
the variable consideration is subject, the length of time to which the uncerainty of the consideration is subject, the number and range of possible
congaderation amounts, the probabiity of significant fluctuations in the AUM market value and the leval at which the ALM value exceeds the contractual
threshold required to eam such a fee.
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Bernstein Research Services

Berrstein Resascch Services revenue conssls prncipally of commissions neceived, and 1o 2 lesser bul increasing extent, direct payments for trade
execution sarvices and equity research services provided to institutional clients. Brokerage commissions for trade execution sanices and related expenses
are recorded on a trade-date basis when the perdformance obligations are satised. Generally, the trarsaction price is agreed upon at the time of each trade
and is based upon the number of shares traded or the value of the consideration traded, The fransaction price for research revenues is not Tooed and is at the
cusiomer’s discrelion. In many cases there is no contract between AB and the cuslomer for réssanch services, o thers is no performance obligation present
that requires AB fo provide the research or for the customer o compensate AB for the research consumed. The customer has the unilateral right to
dabermine the amount it will pay and whather it will contires io receive research, Research revenues ane recognized when the transaction price is quantified,
colectability is assured and significant reversal of such revenue is not probable.

Efiective Apeil 1, 2024, AB deconsolidated the Bemstein Research Senaces business (BRS"). For further discussion. see Nofe 24 Divestiuwe fo owr
consolideled financial stalements confained in lfem &

Distribution Revenues

Two of our subsidsaries act as distibulors andior placement agents of company-sponsaned mutual funds and receve distribution sendoes fees fom cenain
of those funds as full or partial reimbursement of the destribution expenses they ncur. The vanable conséderation can be determined in different ways, a8
discussed bedow, as we satisfy the performance cbiigation depending on the contractual arrangements with the customer and the specific product sold.

Mot gpen-end ULS, funds have adopled a plan under Rule 12b-1 of the Imvestment Company Act that allows the fund 1o pay, out of asaels of the fund,
distribution and service Tees for the distribution and sale of &8 shares ("12b-1 fees’). The cpen-end U5, funds have such agreements with us, and we have
seding and distribution agreements pursuant to which we pay sales commissiors to the financial inbermediaries that distribute our epen-end LS. funds.

These agreerments are lerminable by either party upon nolice {generally 30 days) and do not obligale the financial intermediany to sell any specific amaurd of
fund shares.

We record 12b-1 fees monthly based upon a percentage of the et ssset value ("NAVT) of the funds. At month-end, the vanable consideration of the
trangaction price 15 no longer consiramed as the NAV can be caloulated and the value of consideralion is determinged. These services are separate and
digtind from ciher assel managemen! services as the cuslomer can benafit from these senices independently of olher services. We accrue the

commespanding 135-1 fees pald to sub-distibulars monthly as the experses are incurred. We are aching in a prncipal capaclly in these ransactions; as such,
these revenues ard expenses are recorded on a gross bass.

W offer back-end load shares in limited instances and charge the investor a corfingent deferred sales charge (CDSCT) o the investment is redeemed within
& cerain penod. The vanable conslderation for these conlracts s conlingent on the timang of the redemplion by the imvestor and the value of the sake
proceeds. Due to these conslramning factors, we exclude the CDSC fee from the iransaction price unlil the mwestor redeerns the fmestment. Upan
redemplion, the cash consideration received for thess conlractual amangemenis are recorded as reduclions of unamorized deferred sales commissans.

Our Luxembourg subsidiary, the management company far most of owr nen-LLS. funds, eams a management fee that is sccrued daily and pasd monthiy, af
an annual rate, based on the average dasly net asasts of the fund With respect 1o cenain share classes, the management fiee may also conlain a compenert
that is pasd to distributors and othar financial intermediaries and service providers to cover shareholder servicing and other admanistrabive expenses (also
raferred to @s an Al-in-management-fea). As we have conciuded that assef management is distinct from destribubion, we allocate a portion of the imvestmant
and advisory fee to distribution revenues for the servicing compenent based on standalone selfing prices

Other Revenues

Revenues from conlracts with customers include a portion of other revenues, which consssls primanly of shaseholder senacing fees, as well &8 mutual fund
reimbuersements and other brokerage income.

We provide sharehclder services, which include fransfer agency, adminmtrative and recordkesping services provided 1o company-sporsered mutual funds,
The considerathon for these senvices is based on & percaniage of the MAW of the fund or 8 fived fee based on the number of shareholder accounts being

senviced. The revernwes are recorded at month-end when the constraining factors involved with debermining MAY or the number of shareholders” accocunls
A resohed
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| Neon-Contractual Revenues

Dividend and interest income s accrued as earmed. Invesiment gains and losses on the consobdated statements of income include unrealized gains and
kasses of trading and private egquty investments stated at fair value, equty in earnings of our limited partnership hedge fund imvestments, realized gains and
bossas on imestments scid and equity income (loss) related our egquity imvestment in Jys.

| Contract Assets and Liabilities

W wee the practical expediznt for contracts that have an orginal duration of one year o less, Accordingly, we da nol consider the time value of maney and,
instead, aocrue the ncremental costs of oblaining the contract when incarmed. As of December 31, 2024, the balances of contract assels and conlrect
Eabilties ane not considerad matenal and, accordingly, no further disclosures ane necessary.

Consolidation of Company-Sponsored Investment Funds

Fer legal entities (company-sponsoned irvestmant funds) evaluated for consolidation, we frst determine whether the fees we receive and tha inlerests we
hald qualify a5 a variable mnberest in the entity, including an evaluation of fees paid 1o us a5 a decision maker or senice provider (o the enlity being evaluated
Fets received by us are net variable inberests if (i) the fees are compengation for services provided and are commendarate with the level of effo requined 1o
provide those serdces, (i) the sendce amangement includes anly terms, conditions ar Bmaurts that ars customarily presant in arangements for similar
sendoes pegatabed at aem's length, and (ill) our other ecanamic interests in the entily held directly and indirectly through our related parties, as well as
economic interests held by related pacties urdar common contred. would not absork more than an insignificant amount of the entity’s losses o recede mone
than an insignificent amount of the entity's benafits. For purpeses of datermining whether A8 has an equily interest in an entdy, the related parbes refermed (o
above ane those entilies under comman contral that AB has & direct vanable interes! in and considered 8 consolidated enlity. Our parent company, EQH,
regularly irvests in our seed program . In this areumstance, EQH is not considered a related party for our conselidation analysis because AB does not have a
direct vanable interest in EQH.

For those entdies i which we have a variable interest, we perform an analysis bo defesmine whether the enlity is 8 VIE by considenng whether the entity’s
equity imvestment a1 risk is insufficient, whether the invesiors lack decision making rights propartionad bo their awnership percentage of the enftity, and
wihather the imwestors lack the obligation to absorb an entity's expected |losses ar the nght to receive an enlity's expected income.

A VIE must be consolidated by its primary beneficiary, which generally is definéd as the parly that has a confroling financial inberest in the VIE. We e
deemed fo have a conlrolling financial interest in a VIE ff we have (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly affect the VIE's
economic periomance and (#) the obligation 1o absodb losses of the VIE or the nght to recerve incame frem the VIE that could polentially be significant 1o the
WIE. For purposes of evakating (i) above, fees pasd to us &8 8 decision maker of sarvice provider ane excluded il the amount of fees is commenswate with
the level of effort required o be parformed and the arrangemaent includes ondy cusiomary lems, conditions or amounts prasent in arangements for similar
seraoes negoliabed o arm's length, The primary beneficiary evaluation gererally s performed qualitatively based on all facts and croumsiances, as well as
quartitaiively, as appropriate,

1w have a variable inberest in an entity that is determined not to be a VIE. the enbity s then evaluated for consclidation under the VOE medel. For limited
parinerships and simitar entities, we are deamed 1o have a controlling financial intenes? in @ VOE. and would be required to consolidate the enlity, if we cema
majarity of the enlity's kick-out nghis through veting imited partnership inferests and imited pariners do not held substantive pardicipating rights (or other
raghia that would indicate that we do ot contral the entity). For entities sther than limited partnerships, we are deemed 1o have a conlrolling financial interest
i a VOE if we cwna magrity voling interest in the entity.

The analyss perfarmed regarding the determination of variable mnferests held, whether entiies are VIEs or VOES, and whether we have a contralling
fimancial interest in such enfiies, reguires the exercise of udgment. The analysis is uvpdated continuously as cireumstances change of new enlibes are
fanmed.
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Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Effective April 1, 2024, AS and Sociale Generale ("SocGen”) completed their previeusly announced transaction to ferm a glabal joint venture with two jair
wveniuwe holding companies. one gutside of North America and one within North America CNA JV, and together the “JVs"). AB owns a majerity interest in
tha WA JW while SocGen owns a majorty inberest in the jeint ventune oulside of Noth America

On Apnl 1, 2024, we deconsolidated our BRS business and contnbuled the BRS business to the JVs We recognize our infial irvesimenl in ow
unconsobdated joint ventures at fair value. The determination of fair values of assels and liabdites of the joint veniures reguires us fo make eslimales,
consider assumplions and use valuation techniques when a market value is not readily determinable. The valkmation methedology used for our inital
mvestment in ihe joinl venlures is known 23 a dividend discount model whereby @ forecas! of net income altributable to each of the JVs was discounted
ws=angg an eatmated eost of capilal bo determine the present value of expected fubure dividends. Tha joint venture dividend discount maded indudes significant
assumplions such as expecied fulure defributable eamings, discound rate and a long herm growth rate. We recorded an indial imestiment in the Jvs al fair
value as of April 1, 2024 of $283.9 millien.

We hawve recorded our subsequent investiment in each of the JWs under the equity method of accounting under ASC 323 Investments = Equify Mathod and
Joint Ventures, as we retained the abilly 1o exercsse significart influence aver the aperating and financal palicies of the Jvs but did not retain a cantrolling
nterest. Our investmants in companies over which we have the ability to exercisa significant influence are accounted for under the equily mathod and are
recorded at cost pius our shane of earnings and losses. As of December 31, 2024, we owned 68 7% of the NA Jv and 45.0% of the joint venture oulside of
Merth America and cur combined camying walue in the two nvestments was 285 7 million

O irrvestments in unconsolidated joint veniures ane reviewed for indicalors of impeassment when evenls of circumstances change indicating that a decline in
the fair walues below the canying amounts has occurmed and such dedline is olher-thandemporary Mmmﬂdmmﬂmtmmhmudm
investes, inabiity lo operale without significant fubure capital infusions, or other factors may indicate that a koss in the value of cur imvesiment in the
unconsoldated joint venture may have oocurred, If a loss exists, we furlber review to determine i the loss is other than temporary, in which case we will
recard an impairmen charge in the amaunt of the excesa camying value over the eshmated fair value, As we do nat have a contrelling financial interest in the
Jy's, the fair value of the Jys would be determined at the joint verture level using a dividend discount model which is subjective and considers assumpiions
regarding future performance, as discussed above, that could differ malerially from achual results in fulure penicds. As of December 31, 2024 there was no
triggering event identified requinng an impairment analysis of owr investimend in ow unconsobidated Jvs

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand depcsits, money markel acoounts, overnight commercial paper and highly liguid imestments with
original maturdies of three months or less. Due bo the shoet-temm nadture of these insiruments, the recorded value has been delermined 1o approamate fair
wvalus (and condadéred Level 1 securitias m the fair value higrarchy ).

Fees Receivable, Net

Fees recervable are shown ned of allowances. An allowance for doubtiul sccounts related to nvestment advisory and sarvices fees is determined through an
analysis of the aging of recetables, assessments of collectabilly based on historical trends and other qualitatree and quantiative factors, including owr
relationship wilth the chent. the financial health (or ability to pay) of the client, cument sconamic conditions and whether the acoount is sctive of closed. The
alicwance for doubtful accounts is not matenal to fees recesvabla,

Brokerage Transactions

Customers’ securilies rarsactions are recorded on a settiement dabe basis, with related comemission income and expenses repored on a tade date basis.
Receivables from and payables io clients include amounts due on cash and margin fransactions. Sacurilies owned by customers are held as collateral for
recaivables, such collateral is not reflected in the consolidated financial stalements. We have the ability by contract or custom to sall or re-pledge thes
colateral and hae done g0 &l various limes. As of Decamber 31, 2024 and 2023, we had Zers and $122.4 milion of re-pledged securites, respactnely.
Principal secunties fransactions and relaled expendes are recorded on a irade date basis

Secunties bormowed and secuities loaned by our broker-dealer subsidaries are recorded #t the amount of cash collateral advanced or received in
connection with the transaction and are included in receivables from and payables to brokers and dealers in the consciidaled statements of financial
condition, Securlies bormowed transactions requing us to deposit cash collateral with the lender. With respect bo secunties loaned, we recenve cash collateral
from the borrower. See Note & Offselting Assefs and Lishiifies for securnities bomowed and loaned amounts recerded in ow conscbdated statements of
financial condition as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, The initial collateral advanced or received approximales or ks greater than the fair
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value of secwities bamowed or lnaped. We monilor the fair value of the securties borrewed and lsaned on a daily basis and request addibonal collateral ar
reburn excess collaleral, as appropriaie. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there is no allcwance provision required for the collateral advanced. Income or
expanse is necognized over the e of the transaction

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had 5281 million and $10.2 milllon, respeclively, of cash on deposil with clearing organization for trade facsitation
purposes, which are repcrted in other assets i our consolidated stabements of financkal condition. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we held no U5
Traasury bilis pledged as collateral. These clearing crganizations have the ability by contract or custom o sell or re-pledge the collateral. if any.

Current Expected Credit Losses- Receivables from Brokerage clients

Receivables from clients primanly consists of margin loan balances. The value of the securilies owned by clients and held as collateral for these receivables
5 nol reflected in the consolidated financial stabements and the collaterl was not repledged as of Decomber 31, 2024 and 2023, We consider these
financing recervables to be of good credil qualty because these receivables are primarily collateraiized by the refated clien! investiments.

To estimate expecied credit losses on margn koans, we appled the collateral mainenance practical expedient by comparing the amortized cost basis of the
margin loans with the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date. Margin loans are limited to a percentage of the iotal value of the securties held in the
client’s accounl aganst these loans. AB requires, in the event of a decline in the marke? value of the secunties in @ margin accoun, the client fo deposit
additional securites or cash so that, at all Bmes, the value of the sacunties in the account, at & minimum, caver the loan to the client. As such, AB reasanably
expects thal the bomower will be able lo cortinually replenish collateral securing the financial assed and does not expect the fair value of collateral o fall
balow the amortized cost basis of the margin loans and, as a result, we consider the credit nisk assccialed with these recenvables to be minimal. In
cirgumstances when a loan becomes undercollateralized and the client fails lo deposit additional securities or cash, AB reserves the right to iqudate the
account

Current Expected Credit Losses - Receivables from Revenue Contracts with Customers

The majority of our revenus recenvables are from imvestment advisary and senvice Tees, and destribution revenues, that are typically paid out of the client
acoounis or third-parly products congsling of cash and securities. Due (o the size of the fees in relation 1o the value of the cash and securties in accounts or
funds, the accourt value always excesds the amarized cosd basis of the recenvables, resulbng in a remole sk of losa. These receivables hane a short
duration, generally due within 30-90 days and there s minimal historical evidence of pon-payment or market declines that would cause the fair value of the
undarlying securilies to decline below the amortized cost of the receivables. AB maintains an allowance for credit losses based upon an estimale of the
amaurt of polential credit losses in exisling accounts receivable, as determined from a review of aging schedules, past due balances, historical colection
exparience and other specific account data. Onoe determined uncollectibie, aged balances are written off as credd! loss expense. This determination is
based on careful analysis of indhidual recerables and aging schedules, and generally ocours when the receivable becomes aver 380 days past due Our
aged recelvables and amaurts witien off related bo credit boeses in any year ane nob mateal.

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Met

Fumiture, equipment ard leasehold improvements are stabed 8t cosl, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is recognized on 8
slraight-ling basis over the estimated usaful ives of eight years for furnilure and three 1o six years for equipment and sofiware. Leasehold imprevemants are
amariized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of their estimated uselu lves or the terms of the related leases.

Goodwill

Ouwr acquisitions afe sceounted for under the acquisition method of accourting under ASC 805 Business Combinations, where the cost of the acquistion is
aliocated on the basis of the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and the labiities assumed, The excess of the purchase price gver the far value of
wdentifiable assels acquired, net of mbities assumed, results in the recognition of goodwill

As of December 31, 2024, we had goodwill of $3.5 billion on the consolidated statemant of financzal condition which included $5655.1 millon as a result of the
CarVal L P Imestors ("CarVal”) scquistion in 2022 ("CarVal acquisition™). 52,6 billion 85 a result of the Sanford C. Bemstein Inc. ("Bemstein’) acquisition
n 2000 and £291.9 milkon in regard to various smaller acquistions. As a resull of the BRS decorsolidation. approximately $159.8 million of goodwill, which
was previously feciassified to hefd for sale assets, has been confributed 1o the Jvs

Goodwill is tested anrually, as of September 30, for impairment ulilizing the market approach where the fair valee of the reporting unit is based on its
unadusted market valuation (AB Units outstanding multiplied by AE Holling's Unit price) and adpested market valuations assuming a control premium (when
applicable), ?henmdmll impaimment would be the amount by which a reporting unil's cammying value exceeds its fair value, not to excesd the camying amount
of goadudll. The goadwil
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impaimment test does not include a determination by management of whethar a decline in fair value is temporary and it & Important that management's
dabermination of fair value reflect the impact of changing market conditions, including the severity and anticipated dualion of any such changes.

As a part of our goodwill impairment evaluation, management uses the price of a publicly lraded AB Holding Unil as a reasonable starling poind Tor valuing
an AB Unit because esch represents the same Tractonal inberest in our underlying business. Throughout the year, the carrying value of goadwill (s aksa
revigrwed for impairment if certain events or changes in circumstances cocur and trigger whethaer an inlerim mpaimaent test may be required. Such changes
n circumstances may include, but are nod limited to. significant tansactions including acquisitions or dvastitures. a sustained decrease in the price of an AB
Helding Unit or declines in AB'S market capitalization that would sugges! that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount. significant
and uranbcpated declines in AB's sssels under management of revenues; andior lower than expected eamings per unil. Any of these changes in
circumslances could suggest the posaibility that goodwill s impaired, but none of these events or circumstances by itsell would indocate thal it s more kkely
than not that goodwill is impaired. Inslead, they are mevely recognized as triggering events for the consideration of impairment and must be wewed in
combination with any mitigating or posiive factors. A holistio evaluation of all events since the mes! recent quaniRative impairment tes! must be done 1o
dabtarming whather i is mone likely than net that the reporting unil i impaired. As of Septembaer 20, 2024, the impairment tes! indicaled that goodwill was not
impaired.

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations using the scqusition methed of sccounting under 45C B80S Business CombBinations, whereby the identffiable assets
and Fabities of the acquired busnesa, B3 well 83 any non-contralling interest in the acquired business, are recorded al their estimated fair vabues as of the
dabe thal we obtain contral of the acquired business. Any purchase consideration in excess of the estimated fair values of the net ascels aoguired is
recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are expensed a6 incurmed.

Often, as pan of the business combirabon, intingible assets are reconded based on their estamabed fair valkee at the tirme of scquisiion and primarily nelate b
acquired irvesimant management contracts. We penodically review indefindle-fived intangible assels for impairment 88 events or changes in circumatances
ndicate that the camying value may nol be recoverabla. If the camying value exceeds fair value, we perlorm additional mmpairment tests to measure the
amaunt of the impairment loss, d any, During 2024, 2023 and 2022, these sxpenses included an intangible assel imparment change of $4.4 millien, zem,
and 55.8 million . respectively, related bo vanows histoncal acquisions.

‘We penadically enfer into contingent payment arrangements in connection with car business combinations. In these arangaments, we agree io pay
additional consideration to the sedrs lo the exdent that certain parformance targets are achieved. We estimate the fair value of these polential fulune
obligations a1 the brme a business combination is consummated and record a kability on a discounted basis on ow conscidated stalement af financial
condition, WWe then accrele the obligation to ils expected payment amaunt aver the measurement period, If our expecied payment amourt subsequently
changes, the obiigation i modified in the current penod resulling In & gain o loss. Bath gains and losses reswting fram changes 1o expected payments and
the accration of these obligations to their expected payment amaunts are reflected within contingent payment armangemants in our consolidated statements
of income,

Dwring 2022, we acquired Carval Investors which inchded a conbngent consideration babilty ranging from zero te $650.0 millon and (8 based on Carval
achieving certain perfoemance cbjectives over a six-year pencd ending December 31, 2027, During 2024, we remeasured the conlingent liabdity and
recorded a gain reflected within contingent payment arrangements in the conschdated statements of income of $128.5 milion. The fair vake of the
contingen! consideralion was remeasuned using forecasted fulure cash flows using the Real Opbons valuation methodology, The most significant
assumptions used o remeasure the liability were expected revenue growth rales and discount rates. In December 2024, (he company agreed 1o finalize s
contingent conskderation bty with AB Carval for & value of $134.0 milion. This liability il be paid predomiranlly in AB Units issved within 10 days of
December 31, 2027. Given the kability is no longer contingent, the liablity of approximadely $118.8 million is now recerded in accourds payable and accrued
expanses on the consolidated statements of financial condition, We will accrete the present value of the iabdty of £118.8 miion up to $134.0 milkon through
December 31, 2027 and recognize this expense as general and adminisirative expenses on the consolidated statements of income on & prospective basis,
As of December 31, 2023, the contingent consideration payable associated with the Carlal acquisstion was $2385 milion. In addiion, dising 2024, we
recarded an impairment of $2.5 millien of the conbngent consideration payable assocabed with a emall acqusition made in 2020 due (o the loss of
vvestiment management contracts.

During 2023, we recorded an expense of $28.4 milkon due to a change in eslmate related to the conlingent consideration associated with the acquisition of
Autoncenous LLG in 2019, The change in eslimate was based wupon better than expecled revenues during the 2023 perfoernance evaluation pencd. We
recarded $14.1 million &8 contngent payment arangament expense and $14.3 millien as compensation and benefits expanss in the consolidated statemant
of income. The charges to compensation and benefits expensa are due to certain service conditions and special awards included in the acquistion
agreement. During 2023 and 2022, these wené no impaiments of confingent consederation payable recorded in the consolidated statements of income,
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Several valuation methods may be used bo determirne the Bir value of assets acquined and liabilties assumed. For mbangible assets, we typically use a
rvethod that s & form of the income approach, wherey a forecast of fulure cash Bows attrbutable 1o the assel afe decounted to present value wsing & fisk-
adjusted dacourt rate. Similady for contingent liabdites, we develop & forecast of future cash fows attnbutable to the performance obpectives hat are then
dissourited lo present value using & risk-adusted discount rafe. Some of the maore sigrebcant estimates and assumplions nhesent in the ncome approach
mnclude the amount and Bming of projecied fulure cash flows and the dscownt rate selected (o measure the risks inhenent in the: fulure cash Bows,

Intangible Assets, Net

Imangible assets constst primanly of costs assigned bo acquied mvestment management conlracts based on thelr estimated fair value at the bme of
acquisition, less accumulaled amortization Intangitle assets are recognized at fair value and generally are amartized on 8 straight-Bne basis over their
estimated useful ife ranging from 5 to 20 years.

As of December 31, 2024, intangible assets. nel of accumulated amortization, of $215.1 million on the consalidated stalement of inancial condition consists
of $199.8 million of Bnite-lved imMangible assets subect 1o amonization and $15.3 millon of indefinite-led intangible assets not subject 1o amotization.

As of December 31, 2023, infangible assels. mol of accumulated amartization, of $284.6 million on the conscbdated statement of financial condition
consiied of $249.4 milkon of finite-lived intangble assels subject to amorization and 5152 milion of indefinfe-fived intangible assets not subject o
amartizabion in regard to other acquisitions,

The gross carrying amount of finita-Ihved imangible assels totaled $320.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and $338.4 miion as of December 31, 2023, and
accumuiated amotization was 5121.0 miion as of December 31, 2024 and 5780 million as of Decamber 31, 2023,

Amorizabion expense wis $45.9 million for 2024, 5469 milion for 2023 and $26.8 milbon for 2022, Estimated fulure anmual amodizalion expense is
approximabely $45 milion annually in year one and twa and 524 million in yeans three through five,

We review indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment when evenls of changes in circumstances indicate that the camying value may nol ke
recoverable. This test is pedormed 8t keast annually or as triggering events ocowr, If the carrying value exceeds fair value, we pedorm an impaiment
assessment to measure the amount of the imparment loss, if any. During 2024, we performed an impaiment assessment of owr intangible assets. The
mmpairment assessment ndicated an impairmend of ntangible assets associaled with vanous smaller hislorical acquisitions that were ofher than temporary.
Due to the loss of centain imesiment management cantrads, the carrying value of the Snibe-lived inlangible assets exoeeded the fair value of the conlracts.
As such, we recorded an impasment charge of $4.4 milion in general and administrative expenses in the consclidated statements of income. The remaining
mpairment assessments indicated that cur intangible assets were not impained

Duirg the fourth quarter of 2023, the impalrment assessment indicated that cur inlangible assets wene nol impaired.

Duwring the fourth quaner of 2022, we recorded an impairment of 556 milion refated to our 2014 pcquesition of CPH Capial, Due 10 the loss of acquired
imvestiment managemenl contracts during the year, the carmying walue of the finile-kved inlangible assets exceeded the Tair value of the confrad. e
determined the far valee of the confract using a discounted cash fiow model. The impasment change was recorded n genaral and adminsirative expenses
in the consohidated statements of income,

Deferred Sales Commissions, Net

We pay commissions to financial sbermediaries in connecton with the sale of shares of opan-end company-sponsored mutual funds sold withowt a front-and
sales charge ("back-end load shares’). These commissions are capiialized as deferred sales commissions and amonized over pericds nol excesding one
year far LS. shares and four years for Mon-UL.5S. Fund shares, lhe penicds of time during which deferred sales commissions generally are recovered.
We recover these commissions from distribution services fees recedved from these funds and from COSC received from shameholders of those funds upon
the redempdion of their shares. CDSC cash recoveries are recorded as reductions of unamartized deferred sales commissions when received. Since January
1, 2009, our US. muiual funds have not offered back-end lcad shares to new invesions,

We pesiodecally review the deferred sales commisson asset for impairment as evenls of chamges in arcumsiances indicate thal the canryng value may not
be recoverable. If these factors indicate impairment in value, we compare the carrying value to the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the
assel over is remaining Ife, I we delermine the deferred sales commission asset s nol fully recoverable, the asset will be deemed impared and & logs will
be recorded in the amount by whech the recorded amound of the assetl exceeds s estmabed fair value. There were mo mpairment charges reconrded dufing
2024 or 2003,

Leasas

We detesmine if an arrangement i a lease 8l inception. Both cperating and finance leases are included in the nght-cf-use (“ROU") assels and lease
Eabilities in our consolidated stabemant of financial condition.

ROU assets represant our nght to wse an undedying asset for the bease lemm and lease lablies represent our abligation 1o make lease payments ansing
frem the lease. ROU assets and lease kabilties are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease larm.
We use cur consolidabed incramental bormowing rale based on the
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migrmalion available as of the lease commencement date in delermining the present value of leass paymenis Our lease lerms may include options to
extend of lerminate the lsase. These sphions to extend of terminale are assessed on a lease-bydeass basa, and the ROU assels and lease kabiblies ane
adjusted when il & reasonably cenain that an option will be evercised,

When calculating the measurement of ROU asasls and lease liabilfies, we ublize the fed paymenls associated with the lease and do nol include other
wanable contractual obligatons, such as operating expenses, real estabe taxes, cieaning and utities. These costs are accounted for as peniod costs and
expensed a5 incumad.

Additiorally, we exclude any intangible assals such as scftware koenaing agreements as stated i ASC B42-10-15-1. These arangements will conlinue bo
fallaw the guidance of ASC 350, infangibles - G oodwill amd Offer

Loss Contingencies

With respect 1o all significant igation matters, wa cormider the likelinsod of a negative outeame. I we datermine the kalihood of a negative oulseme is
probaible and the amownt of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we record an estimated logs for the expected outcome of the litigation. Any such sccruals
are adusted thereaBier as appropriate fo reflect changed droumstances, When we are able 1o do so. we alsa delermne eslimates of reascrably possible
losses or ranges of reasonably possible losses for such matiers, whether in excess of any refated acorued labdity or where there is no accrued liability, and
we disclose an estimate of the possible loss or range of losses, However, § i oflen difcult o predicl the cutcome of eslimale a possible loss of range of
loss becausa litigation is subject to inherent uncenainties, particularly when plaintfis allege substanbal or indeterminate demages. Such is particularly the
case when the btigabon s in #s eady siBges or when the litigation is highly complex or broad in scope. In these cases, we disclose thal we are unable to
predict the outcome or estimate a possible loss or range of loss.

Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

The Company classiies assets and liabilties to be sold (disposal group) as held for sale in the pericd when all of the applicable criteria are met, including: (i)
management commils 1o a plan to sell, (k) the dispesal group is avafable 1o sell in ils present condition, () these is an active program Lo lecate a buyer, (iv)
the disposal group B being actively markebed at a reasonable price in relation 1o its fair value, (v) significant changes bo the plan to sell are unbkely, and ()
the sale of the dsposal group = genaraly prabable of beng completed within one year. Management performs an assessment of held for sale at least
quarterly or when events or changes in business circumistances indicate that a change in classiScation may be necessary. Assets and liabilites held for sale
am presented separately within the consalidaled stsfements of financial condion with any adjustmants necessary to measure the disposal group f the
ket of its carrying value o fair value less cosls 1o sell. Depreciation of propedty, plant and equipment and amortizatan of irtangible and ght-of-use assels
are nol recorded while these assals ane classified as held for sale. For each reporting peried the deposal group remains classified as held for sale, the
carrying value of the disposal group is adjusted for subsequent changes in far value less costs 1o sel. A loss s recognized for any subsequent decrease in
fair value less costs (o sell, while a gain is recognized in any subsequent penicd for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost o sell, but not in excess
of the cumLiative loss previously recognized. I in any period, the carrying value of the disposal group exceeds the estimated fair value less costs 1o sell, a
loss is recognized on sale rather than an mpairment loss.

Effective Agril 1, 2024, AR and SocGen completed iheir previously announced transaclion to form a global joint venture with beo joint venture holding
companies. We have deconsolidated our BRS business and contibuled the assats and kabiltles previously held for sake of the BRS busmess to the e

Assets and liabilities dassified as held for sale as of December 31, 2023 wene 5554.8 millon and $153.3 milkon, respectvely.

Mutual Fund Underwriting Activities

Purchases and sales of shares of company-sponsored mutual funds in connection with the underwriting activities of cur subsidianes, inchuding related
COMMISSion income, are recorded on the trade date, Receivables from brokers and dealers for sale of shares of company-spansared mutual funds generally
are realized within (hree business days from the trade date, in conjunction with the seltlement of the related payables b company-sponsaned mutual funds
for shane purchases. Distribution plan and oliher promotion and servdcing payments ane recognized as expense when incured

Long-term Incentive Compensation Plans

We maintasn several unfunded, nan-qualified long1enm ncantive compensation plans, under which we grant annual swards fo employees, generally in the
Toaarth quarter, and to members of the Beard of Directors of the Ganeral Partnesr, who are not employed by our company or by any of our affliates ("Eligible
Directors™).

Aurards granted in December 2024, 2023 and 2022 allowed employees to allocate their awands between restricted unils represanting assignments of
beneficial ownership of limiled parinership inlerests in AllianceBamsten Holding L.P. ("AB Holding Units™) and delerred cash Parlicipants (except cerdain
members of senior managament) generally could allecate up to 50% of their awards 1o deferred cash, not to exceed a total of 5250,000 per sward. Each of
aur employees based outside
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of the Unked Siates (other than expatiates) who received an award of $100,000 or less, could have aliseated 100% of their award to deferred cash
Starbing in December 3024, each of cwr employees based outside the Unded States (other than expalnates) genemlly could allecate up 1o 50% of their
awards 1o deferred cash, not 1o exceed a total of 3500000, cr 100% of fheir award 1o deferred cash for those who received an award of $300,000 or less,
Thar number of AB Holding Linits awarded was based on the closing price of an AR Holding Linit a5 of the eighth business day of December a5 determined
by the Compensaban and Warkplace Practices Commities (the “Compensation Committes”) of ihe Baard of Direclors (the "Board™). Fer awards granted n
2024, 2023 and 2022

+ W engaged in open-market purchases of AB Holding Unils or purchaise newly issued AB Holding Unils from AB Holding that are awarded to participants
and keep them in a consolidated rabbd rust

+ Quarnedy distributions on vested and uvwesled AB Holding Linits were paid fo participants, regardiess of whether or nct a long-term deferral election had
been made.

= Irerest on defered chsh was accrued monthly based on our monthly wesghbed average cost of funds.

We recognize compensation expense related to equity compensaticn grants in the financial statements using the fair value method. Faér value of restricted
AB Haolding Unit ewards is the closing price of an AB Holfing Unit on the gram date; {air value of cplions is delermined using the Black-Scholes optien
valualion madel, Linder the fsr value method, compensatory expense i measuned af the grant date based on the estimated fair vabue of the award and is
recognized over the required servce peniod, For year-end long-bem incentive compendaton fwards, employess who resign of ane leminaled withaul cause
may relain their awards, provided the employes remains in compliance with cerain agresments and cowenants set forth in the applicable award agreement,
inciuding the imposibon of forfedture &8 & result of pest-employment competition, prohibitions on employee and client soliciation, and a polential claw-back
for failing to follow existing risk management policies. Because there is no senvice requirement, we fully expense these awards on the grant date. Most
equity replacement or similar deferred compensation awards included in separate employment agreements of amangemenis include & required service
pericd. Regardhess of whether the award agreement inchades employee service requisements, AB Holding Uinits are typscally dedtvened to employees ratalily
awer three bo four years, unless the employes has made a long-term deferral election

Grants of restricted AB Hoiding Units can be awarded to Eligible Directors. Generally, these restncted AB Holding Units vest ratably cver thres years, These
resticted AE Holding Limits &re not forfeitable (except if the Eligible Director is terminated for "Cause.” as that term is defined in the applcable award
agreement). We fully expense these awards on grant date, as there & no senvice requirsment

‘W hedge our restricted AB Holding Linit awards: either by purchasing AB Holding Linits on the open market or purchasing newly-sssued AB Holding Units
frem AE Helding. and then keeping these AB Holding Units in a consolidated rabbi frust until delvering them or retiring them. in accordance with the
Armended and Restated Agreement of Limited Pamnership of AB AB), when AB purchases newly-fssued AB Holding Units from AB Holding, AB Holding is
required to usa the procesds it receives from AB to purchase the equivalent number of pewly issued AB Units, thus increasang its percentage ownershg
inbarest in AB. AB Holding Units held in the corsoldated rabbi trust are corporate assels in the name of the trest and are available o the genenal creditors of
A8,

Repurchases of AB Holding Unils far the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the fallowing
Yoars Ended Decembar 31

(i milian)
Total amount of AB Helding Units Purchased' ™ 45 4.7
Total Cash Paid for AB Halding Units Purchased™ 3 1562 § Td4.4
Open Matket Purchases of AB Helding Units Purchased"! 1.8 20
Tetal Cash Paid for Open Market Purchases of AB Holding Units'"! 3 ] G265
M Purchased on o rade dale basis. The dforence bobween open-maroed purcharses and units inad reflocts the refonbon of A8 Holding Uinis from employoos io fulfl

statutony B wishholding reguiremants a1 the bree of delivery of kng-berm ncantie companiabon swards,

Each quarter, we consider whether 1o implement a plan fo repurchase AB Holding Unds pursuant to Rules 10651 and 10b-13 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act”). A plan of this type allews 8 cormpany 1o repurchase its shases at times when it otherwise might be
preverded from doing 50 because of sed-imposed trading blackout pericds or because it possesses material non-public information. Each broker we salect
has the autharity 1o repurchases AE Holding Linits
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an aur behall in accordance with the lems and Bmitatians speciiied in the plan. Repurchases are subject bo regulations premulgated by the SEC as well as
certain prica, marked volume and liming constraints specified in the plan. There was no plan adepted during the fourth quarer of 2024 We may adopt
additional plans in the fulure 1o engage in open-market purchases of AB Holding Uinits 1o help fund anticipated obligations under cur incantive compensation
award program and for other cofporate pUrposes

During 2024, we granted 1o emnployees and Eligible Drectors 5.9 milkon restnicted AB Helding Unils (including 4.1 milllon granted in December 2004 under
our year-end Incentive Compensation Award Program to employess). Duning 3023, we granted to employees and Eligible Directars 5.6 midlion restricted AB
Helding Linits {including 5.0 million granted in December 2023 under our year-end Incenlive Compensation dwvard Program to employees). We used AB
Hedding Linets repurchased during the periods and newly-issued AB Holding Units to fund these awards.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidaries are translated from functional cwrrencees inbo Uniled States dollars (US$) at exchange rates in effect a1 the
balance sheet dates. and related revenues and expenses are lranslated inte USS at average exchange rates in effect during each pericd. Net foreign
cumancy gains and losses resulting from the transkation of assets and liabilities of foresgn operations into USS are reported as a separate componant of other
comprebensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensne income. Net foreign curency transaction losses were 33.7 million, $4.5 million and
F10.2 millien for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are reporied in general and administrative expenses on the corsclidated statements of income

Cash Distributions

AB is required io distrbute 21 of itls Available Cash Flow, as defined in the AB Parnership Agreement, to its Unitholders and to the General Partner.
Fusailable Cash Flow can be summarized as the cash Bow received by AB from operations minus Such amounts as the General Partner delermines, in ils
sole discretion, should be retained by AB for use in s business, of plus such amounts as the Genaral Parfner delermings, in fs sale discrebon, should be
released from preausly retained cash fiow.

Typically, Available Cash Flow has been the adjssted diluted net income per unit for the guarter multiplied by the number of general and limited pannership
intgrests al the end of the quarier. In fulure peneds, management anticipates that Saidable Cash Flow wil be based on adjusted divted net income per unit,
unless management delenmines, with the concurrence of the Board, that one or mare adustiments that are made for adusted net income should not ke
ade vwith redpect o the Available Cash Flow caloulaban.

On February 6, 2025, the General Parner declared a distribution of $1.15 per AB Und, representing a distnbution of Available Cash Flow for the three
manths ended December 31, 2024, The General Partner, as a resull of its 1.0% general partnership interest, is entitied to receive 1.0% of each distribution.
The digtribution is payable on March 13, 2025 to hokders of recerd an February 18, 2025,

Total cash dislributions per Uinit paid to the General Partner and Unitholders during 2004, 2023 and 2022 were $3.30, $2.92 and $3.87, reapectively.

Comprehensive Income

‘Wa repart 21 changes in comprehansive income in the consolidated slatements of comprehensies income. Comprehenshe income indudes ret income, as
well 88 forsign currancy tranalation sdiustments, actuarial gains (Josses) and price sennce cost. Deferred laxes were nol recognized on Soteign curency
tranalaton adustments for forelgn subsidianes which had eamings that were considered permanently imested outside the Unfled Stales.

Reclassification

During 2024, amounts previously presentéd on the consoidated stalement of cash flow as “other assets and habdites of company-sponsored imestment
funds, net” are now presented as “olher assels of company- sponsoned invesiment funds™ and “other liabiities of company-sponsored imvestment funds®,
Priof pesiod amourts previously presented as such have been reclassified bo conform 1o the current periods presentation

During 2024, amounts previously presenied on the consoldated statement of financial cendition as “leng-lem incenive compensalion-relaled” imesimaents
are now presented as olher” imesiments. Prior period amounts préviously presented as such have been reclassiied 1o conform to the current perads
presentation

During 2024, the contingent liability of approximately $118.8 million associated with the Carval acquisibon previously recarded in contingent conssderation
Eability on the consclidated statements of financial condition is now recorded in accounts payable and accued expenses. Accretion expensa associabed with
the liability will now be recorded as gereral and administrative expense on the consobdated siatements of income on a prospecive basis. Prior period
amauns have not béen recas!,
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Subsequent Events

We evaluate subseguent evanis through the date that these financial statements are filed with the SEC and did net identify any subsequent events that
would require disclosune in these financial statements

3. Revenue Recognition
Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2002 constsbed of the Talleing:

Years Ended Decomber 31

T
{in theoumca s
Subject bo contracts with cusbamers:
Irmversbment advisory and senices fees
Biase fees £ 3TIATS 0§ 2830557 0§ 2825 TN
Performance-based fees 270,964 144,911 145,247
Bernstein research sendces’" 96,222 386,142 #16,27T3
Distribution revenues
Al-in-management fees 337 060 284 057 290,740
1281 fees &7.611 83127 59,041
Other distribution fees. 321,080 235074 247 414
Other revenes
Shareholder servicing fees B9 155 83,802 85 651
JW related revenues 7 arTTs - —
Oahar 14,317 17081 18120
4,406,318 4,048,736 4,088 2687
Nat subject to confracts with cuslomers.
Diadend and interest income, nel of interest expenas 80,800 1 8902 56,653
Investment (losses) gains [13.486) 14,206 (102 413)
Other revanses 1,507 ATH &3
58 821 106587 [44,997)
Tedal met pevenues S 44ATHEAM 5 4155323 0§ 4054290
O Apl 1, 2024 AB and Sotbe Gersbrala, 2 Mading E bank, boled thair I ian B Podm 8 peany cwnid eguity redeanch provided and cash aquity irading

pesriret fod institutional irvestors. AB has deconiokdabed Il'ﬂ‘ﬂhll'l“i-'l leﬂ'l Sarviced butaness and conirlddoed th Busingss 1o the jinl vonbuee. For lurther dscussion,
sow Note 24 Dévestiume.

‘W enlored indo cerain trarsition senvice lovel agreemants. with the Jv's in cor with the iy of the BRS busness. From Apil 1, 2024 through December 31,
024 wa provided sardces and recognized rovenues of $37.8 milion associated with these rarsition services agreements.
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4. Net Income Per Unit

Basic net income per urit k8 derived by reducing net inceme for the 1.0% genemal parnership interest and dividing the remaining 98.0% by the basic
weighted average number of limiled patnership unils oulstanding for each year. Diluted net income per unit is derived by reducing net income far the 1.0%
general parinership interest and dividing the remaining 99.0% by the fotal of the diluted weighted average number of imited parinership units cutstanding for
each year

Yirwrs Ended Deceniber 31

{in thousands, axcopt per et amouwts)

Het income atiributable to AB Unitholders 5 173247 % TE4.5610  § 831,813
Weaighted average unils cutstanding—basic 266,618 285125 3843
Celutive effect of compensatory options to buy AB Holding Units = = 1
Weighted average unils outstanding—diluted 286,618 285125 23844
Baskc net income par AB Unit $ 405 § 2B § 3
Diluted net income per AB Unit 5 405 § 2685 & 3.0

There were no ant-dilutive options excluded from diluted net income in 2024, 2023 and 2022
5. Cash and Securities Segregated Under Federal Regulations and Other Requirements

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $0.5 bilion and 30.9 billion, respectively, of U5, Treasury Bills were segregated in a special resenve bank cusiody
account for the excusive benefil of our brokerage custormers under Rule 15¢3-3 of the Exchangs Act.

6. Investments

Imeestmaents congist of
Years Ended December 31
I
{in thoarsands}

Equity sacurities

Lang-Len incentnve compensation-related 5 31,534 5 1B,B&2

Soed capital 169 502 128,771

Dby 388 —
Investmaents in limased parinership hedge funds:

Lang-termn incentive compensation-related 10,831 15

Seed capatal 18397 57,624
Irvestment in joint venbures 286,721 -
Tirme deposds 5,100 68517
Oitther 1.3 10,605
Total investmants 5 535204 8 243554
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Total imvestments related Lo long-temn ncenlise compersation cbligations of 542 8 milkan and $40.0 million as of Decembar 31, 2024 and 2023, respactively,
consssl of company-sponsored mutual furds and hedge funds. For long-term incentive compensation awards granted before 2008, we typically made
nvestments in company-sponsored mubual funds and bedge funds thal were notipnally elecied by plan padicipants and mamtained them {and continue o
mairdain them) in & consolidated rabbi trust or separaie cuslodial account, The rabbi truest and custodial account erable uws to hold such invesiments
saparate fram aur olher assels for the purposa of setiling our obligations to pamseipants. The irvestmeanls held in the rabbl tnust and cuatadial secount remain
availabée to the genarsl creditars of AB.

The underdying investments of hedge funds in which we invest include long and shor positions in equily securies, fived income securlies (including varicus
agency and non-agency assel-based secunties), curmenches, commodibes and derivatves (ncluding various swaps and forward contracts). These
mvestments are valued 81 quoted markel prices of, where quated market prices are not available, are fair valued based on the pricing policles and
procedures of the underlying furds

W allocate seed capital 1o our irmeesiment leams bo help develop new products and services for our cierts. A portion of ouf seed capital trading imesiments
are equity and fixed income products, primanly n the farm of separately managed account portfolos, ULS. mutual funds, Luxembourg funds, Japanese
vwestment trust management funds or Delaware business tusts. We atso may allocate seed capital 1o investments in private eguity funds. Regarding ouwr
seed capital investments, the amounds above reflect these funds in which we are not the primary beneficiary of a VIE or hold a controlling financial interest in
a WVOE. Bee Note 15, Consobdated Company-Sponsored Investment Funds, for a description of the seed capital immestiments that we consclidate. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, our total seed capital imestments were 52947 million and $384 2 milkon, respectrvely. Seed capital irmvestments in
unconsobdaled company-sponsored investment funds are valued using published net assel values of non-published net assel vahees if they ane not ksted on
an active exchange but have nel asset values that are comparable to funds with published et asset values and have no redemption restrictions.

On April 1, 2024, we deconsalidated sur BRS business and conlributed the business to the Jus. We record our subsequent investment in the Jvs under the
equily methed of accounting and our invesiment n joint verlures meludes our imvestments i these Vs (lor further discussion, see Nolde 2 Signdicant

Accountimg Fokicles and Note 24 Diveshiures).
The portion of unrealized gains (losses) related to equily securities, as defined by ASC 321.10, held as of Decernber 31, 2024 and 2023 were a3 fallows:
Years Ended December 11

{in thesnands)
et gaina recegnized during the perod 5 19622 § 14,372
Less: nel gains recognized during the period on equily securities sold during the perod BT3 6,132
Unrealized gains recognized during the perdod on equity securities held 5 5891 § 8,240

7. Derivative Instruments

See Note 15 Consolidated Company-Sponsored nvesiment Funds for disclosure of derivative instruments held by our consodidated company-sponscred
Evvastment funds.

We enter into various fulures, forwarnds, options and swaps o economically hedge certain seed capital invesiments. Also, we have cumancy forwards that
help ua to econamically hedge cedam balance shesl expeaures. In addilion, sur options desk irades lorg ard shan exchange-raded equily eptiena We da
nat hold any dervatives designated in a formal hedge relationship under ASC 81510, Denvalives and Hedging.

Thee national value, fair value and gains and losses recognized in investment gains (losses) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 for derivalive instruments
{exchading derivalive instruments relating to ouwr options desk rading activilies déscussed balow) nol designaled as hedging instruments were &8 follows:

024 Anmusl Report Frd

111/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

Par il

December 31, 2024

Exchange-traded futures 3 157,787 & 2835 3 33 5 {2744}
Currency forwards 27.368 4 821 4858 1,690
Inferest rate swaps 17,667 367 14 =104
Credit dafaull swaps 159,720 4,172 5,099 {2575}
Total retum swaps 216,488 663 1.087 {3823
Dption swaps w0458 B.O23 55 (688)
Total derivatives 5 GE9.469 % 20841 3 14944 § [7.a%0)
Decemnber 31, 2023

Exchange-traded fuiures 5 116344 5 1 % s 5 {2.038)
Curmengy forwards 34,440 4,951 5.597 {82}
Irfenesd rate swaps 11,345 204 349 110
Credit defaull swaps 139,607 9,265 4,197 (8.850)
Total refuimn swaps 2500 & 4,391 {5,443)
Option swaps 50,232 1 135 (2107}
Todal dérivatives 5 445989 3 14518 % 18,180 § (1864100

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the derivalive assets and liabiltes are included in both receivables and payables to brokers and dealers on owr
consolidated statements of financial condition. Gains and losses on derivative instrumaents ane reported in investment gains (losses) on the consolidabed
slatements of income

e may be exposed to credi-related lesses in the event of non-performance by counterparties fo demvative financial insiruments. We minimize our
counterparty exposare through a credit review and approval precess. In addition, we have executed various collateral amangements with counberparties o
the overdhe-courter denvative transactions thit requine both pledging and sccepling collateral in the form of cash As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we
held $10.4 milkbon and $5 7 milllon, respectively, of cash collateral payable to trade counterpaties. This abligation to returm cash (8 reported in payables to
brokers and dealers in o consolidated statements of financial condition,

Although nobonal amount is the Lypical measure of volume n the deralives make!, it i not used as a measure of credit risk, Generally, the current credi
exposure of our dervalive contracts is limiled (o the net posilive estimated fair value of derative confracts at the reporting date afler taking into
consideration the exsstence of netting agreements and any collateral recehved. A dervative with posiive value (a derivalive asset) indicales exsslence of
cradit risk because the counterparty would owe us if the contract were closed, Allermatively, a derivative contract with negative value (8 dervative liability)
indicates we would owe money to the courterparty if the contract were closed. Geperally, if there is more than one dervative transaction with a single
counbirparty, & master netting arrangement exis!s with respect to derivative iransactions wilh that counterparty to pravide for apgregate net settflement

Ow slardardized contrects for cver-the-counber derivalive transaciors, known as ISDA master agreements. provide for colateralizstion As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, we delivered £5.2 million and 57 .8 millon, respectively, of cash collateral info brokerage accounts. Wa repost this cash
collateral in cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated staterments of financial condition

Aa @ resull of the deconsolidation of the BRS business on April 1, 2024, we no longer have long and shert exchange-iraded equity options. As of Decembear
3, 2023, these equily options were classified as held for sale on our consclidated statement of financial condfion. For further discussion, see Mofe 24

Priot b the deconsslidation of the BRS business, sur oplions desk pravided our chents with equty deralive strategies and execution Tor exchange-traded
options on single stocks, exchange-iaded funds and indices. While predominately agency-based, the options desk had Ihe abilty to commit capital to
facilitate 2 dieni's transaction. Qur oplions desk hedged the risk assemated with this activity by taking offsefling positions in equities. For the three months
ended March 31, 2024 {prior to our deconsolidation of the BRS business on April 1, 2024), we recognized losses of 52.0 million on equily options activity
For the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized 540 millon of losses on equily oplions activity, respectnely, These losses are recognded in
nwvestment gains (losses) in the conscldaled statements of income.
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8. Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

See Note 15, Consoldaled Company-Sponsored Invastment Funds, for dieclosure of offsetting assels and habsities of our consolidated company -sponsored
nvvestment funds

Otfsatting of assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was a2 follows

Amcaints of
Assobs

Piretanied im

Ml
Bmeounil

December 31, 2024
Sacurities bomowed

Derivalroes

December 31, 2023

Secunties bomomwed ] 23238 § —_ 5 2378 5 (23.229) § —_ -] -_
Derrvatives 14 518 - 14518 - (2.621) BR2T

Offsetting of labilties as of Decembar 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows

Statement

&1 :
Fima | i c et
i | Bk - Amepanit

December 31, 2024

Derivatras =z 14,844 3 — g 14544 z — 5 (5,188 3 8,755
Decombaer 31, 2023

Secunlies loaned ] 125,101 3 ~— 123,10 3 (122363 3 == & 2,732
Derivalives 18,180 - 12180 — (7.795) 10,385

Cash collateral, whather pledged of received on derivatise instrumants. is not considered materal and, accardingly, is nof disclosed by counterparty

9. Fair Value

Sow Note 15, Consolidaled Company-Spansored immsimend Funds, for disclosure of fair valee of owr consolidated company-sporsoned imestiment funds
Faw value s defined a8 the price that would be recened to sell an aase! or pad 1o transfer & hability (re., the “exit price™) in an orderdy Iranshclion bebween
mmarket participants a1 the measurement dabe. The thres broad levels of tair value hierarchy are anms follows

* Level 1—{Quohed pnces in ective markels ane available for identical assets or liabiliies as of the reported dale

v Level 2—0uoled prices in markets that ane naot active or olher prcang inputs that ane either directly or indsrectly observable as of (he reporied date

* Level J==Prices or valuation techreques that are both sigrificant fo the fair value measurement and unobsenable as of the reported date. These Smancial
instrumenis do nat have two-way markets and are measured using management’s bes! estimate of fair value, where the inputs nlo the determination of
fair value requine sgnificant management pudgment o estimation
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
‘aluation of our financial instruments by pricing obsenvability levels as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows (in thousands):

MY Expedient’

Decembar 31, 2024

Maney markets 3 146,781 5 == 5 —Fa ) = 2 146,781
Securities segregated (LS. Treasury Bills) — 493, 245 - - 490 245
Darivativwes 2,838 18,108 — — 20,941
Equity securities 193,766 5,921 121 2018 201,824
Other lnvesiments B.503 — - — B553
Todal assets measuned at fair value ] 181,078 -] 523,272 ] 121 5 2018 g 877,184
Desivatises - 33 5 14,811 ] — 5 —_ * 14,844
Cantingent payment arangements - - 9,385 - 9385
Tedal llabdlithes measured at fair value 5 33 5 14811 5 8385 § — % 24,329

Decernber 31, 2023:

Money markets % 145906 5 - % - % - & 146,908
Securilies segregated (LS. Treasury Bills) - BG7 679 - - BET 679
Derivatroes 1 14,517 - -_ 14,518
Equity secunties 113,833 32104 118 1,558 147,653
Cithesr imvesiments 7,870 - - - 7ETD
Total assets measured af fair value H 26610 % 914,300 % 118§ 1598 5 1,184,628
Derivatives § s 5 14668 % — 5 — 5 18,180
Caonbingent payment affangements - - 252 680 - 252 690
Tedal llakdlitkes measured at fair value § 3511 35 14660 § 252,680 5 — 5 270,870
M Imspstmants moasured at B vakie uing PAY (or B8 equivalent) &8 a practcal expadient

Other imesiments inchaded in Level 1 of the fair value hisrarchy include our imaestiment in a mutual fund measured at fair value

We prowide below a description of the fair value methodolagles used for instruments measwed al fair value, as well s the general classification of such
instrumants pursuant te the valuation hierarchy:

= Momey markels: We imest excess cash in vanous money market funds that are valued based on guabed prices in acthve markets; these are included in
Lewel 1 of the waluation hierarchy.

+ Treasiwny Bills: We hold U5, Treaswry Bils, which are primarily segregated in a special reserve bank cusbody sccount as required by Rule 15:3-3 of the
Exchange Act These securities are valeed based on quoted yields in secondary markets and are included in Level 2 of the valualion reerarchy.

= Equity securities: Our equily securilies conalst principally of company-sponsared mutual funds with MAVE and various separalely managed portfohios
consising primarily of equity and fooed income mutual furds with quoted prices in active markets, which are included in Level 1 of the valuabion hierarchy.
In addition, scme securities are valued based on obsarvable inputs from recognized pricing vendars. which ame included in Level 2 of the valuation
higranchy.

+ Derivatives: We hold exchange-traded fulures with counterparties that are included in Leval 1 of the valuation hiearchy. In addition, we alsoe hold
curmency forward contracts, inbarest rale swaps, credit default swaps, option swaps and total returm swaps with counterparties that are vaksed based on
obsaryable inputs from recognized prcing vendors, which are included in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy,

+ Contingent payment arrangements: Contingent payment arrangements refate to confingent payment liabilities associated with varous acquisitions. A
each reporiing date, we estimate the fair values of the contingent consideration expecied fo be paid wpon probability-weighted AUM and revenue
projections, usng urohssnable market data inpuls, which are included in Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy,
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During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 securities.
The change in camying value associated with Level 3 financial instruments camied at fair value. classified as equily securities, is as follows:

Decembar 3t

{in thoamands)
Balance a5 of beginning of period 5 a5 128
Unreakzed gains {losses), net 3 {11}
Balance as of end of peried 5 121 % 118

Realized and unreakzed gams and losses on Level 3 financial insfruments are recorded in mvestment gains and losses n the consobdaled statements of
mcome.

Our acquisitions may include contingent consideration arangements as part of the purchase price. Tha change in carmying value asseciated with Leved 3
financial instruments carried a1 fair value, classified 3% contingent payment arrangements, is a8 folaws

Dacérmibar 31

{in thoamands}
Balance a% of begmnning of penod 5 252600 % 247,309
Arreton 5,005 B8.803
Changes in eslimales {130,001} 14,050
Faymenis (2 540 {1.291)
Held fos sale reclassfication - {16,181)
Redlassification of AB CarVial contingent liabdity {118, 763) —
Balance as of end of pericd 5 5385 % 252,680

Dwring 2022, we acquired Carval Invesiors which included a conlingent consideration abdity ranging from zero te $650.0 million and is based on Carval
achieving certain parformance objectives over a six-year pericd ending December 31, 2027. The far value of the contingent liatilily is remeasured sach
reporting period. Duning 2024, we remeasured the contingent liakility ard recorded a gain reflected within conbingent payment arrangements. in the
consolidated statements of meome of $1268.5 milion. The fair valuee of the conlingént congiderabion is reméasuned using forecashed fulune cash Nows using
the Real Optians valustion methodalogy. The most sigrificant assumplions used 1o remeasures the Babiity were expected revenue growth rates and disesunt
rabes.

In December 2024, the company agreed fo finalize #s contingent consaderation Eability with AB Cadval for a value of $134.0 million, This labilty will be paid
predominantly in AB Units issued within 10 days of December 31, 2027, Given the liabiity is na longer contingent, the Eability of approximately 51188 million
s now recorded in accounts payable and accrued experses on the consclidated statements of financial condition. We will sccrete the present valua of the
Eabilty of $118.8 milion up to 5134.0 milkon through December 31, 2027 and recogmze this expense a8 genaral and admenisfrative expenses on the
consolidaied statements of income on a prespective basis. As of December 31, 2023, the contingen! considerabion payable associated with the Carlal
acquisilion was 5238 5 millian

As of December 31, 2024, the expecied reverue growth rabes mnged from 2.0% to 28.3%. with 8 weighled average of 55%, calculated using cumulative
revenues and rangs of revenue growth rates, The discount rates range from 1.9% to 10.4%. with a weighled average of 7.3%, calculated using total
contingend liabilibes and range of discount rates

As of December 31, 2023, the expecied revenua growth rates range from 2.0% to 83.9%, with a weighled average of 10.3%, calculated using cumulative
rewanues and range of revenue growth rates. The discount rates ranged from 1.9% o 10.4%, with a weighled average of 4.5%, caloulated using total
contingent liabilites and range of discount rates

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Wa did not have any malenal assets or liabdites thal were measwed al fair value for impaiment on a norrecurning basis during the years ended
Decembar 31, 2024 or 2023
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10. Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net
Fumiture, equipment and leasehold mprovements, met comsist of.
Yaars Enced Decambar 21

{in theanands)
Furnilure and equgpment ' 3 151478 § 168,415
Leasehald improvemants " 243 422 BRE1N
Todal M 400,900 454, 548
Less: Accumulaied depreciabion and amorbization ' {162,227} (318,198)
Fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 0 5 48673 & 176,348

M Caaring tha fowth quarker of 3024, due to owr exit from our prestows Mew York office location, we disposed of approvimately $201 .8 milion in assets with a ned book vakes of
531 millon

Degpreciation and amonization expense on fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements were $44.9 million, $44.9 million and $35.7 malion for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
11. Deferred Sales Commissions, Net

The components of deferred sales commissions, net, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (excluding amounts related to fully
amortized defermed sales commissions):

Yoads Encled Dicember 3

in thessands)
Carrpng amount of defered sales commssons 5 303 554 5 187 BrQ
Lass: Accumulated amortiration (74 802) (85, 809)
Cumutalinve COSC rescened {46, 255]) (33.597)
Deferred sales commissions, net s 182707 §  e1ame

Amorization experse associated with deferred sales commissions was $58.0 million, $35.8 million and 5348 milkon for the years ended December 37,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Estimated fulue amortization expense related 1o the December 31, 2024 net asset balance, assuming ne additional COSC is recerved in fulure penods, is
as fallows (in thousands)

mes 3 TE,415
006 58,1592
g 36,553
2028 1,547
Tedal g 182,707
12. Debt

Credit Facility

A has an $800.0 milken committed, unsecuned seror revohing credd facility (the “Credit Facility”) with a group of commercial banks and ather lenders,
which maturées on Oclober 13, 2026, The Credit Facilily prowvides for possible increases in the principal amounil by up to an aggregale incrémental amaurd of
52000 milion; any such ncreass is subgect 1o the consent of the affected lenders. The Credt Facilty s available for AB and Sanford . Bermstein & Go.,
LLC ("SCB LLCT) business purposes, inchuding the support of AB's commercial papar program. Beth A8 and SCB LLC can daw dinectly under the Gredit
Facilty and management may draw on the Credit Facility from tene to time. AB has agreed to guarantes the obligations of SCB LLE under the Credi Facility.

The Credit Facility contairs affirmative, megative and financial covenants, which ane customary for faciities of this type, including restrictions on dispositions
of assals, restnctions on bens, 8 minkmum inberest coverage ratio and a maximuen
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leverage ratio, As of December 31, 2024, we wera in compliance with these covenants. The Credit Facllity alss includes customary events of defawlt (with
cuslomary grace peviods, as apphcable), including provisions wunder which. upon the ocowrrence of an event of defaull, all cutstanding loans may be
accelerated andlor lender's commEments may be terminated, Also, under such provisions, Upen the ocourrence of certain ingobvency- or bankmupicy-related
events of default, all amounts payable under the Credil Facility would sulomatically become immedately due and payable, and the lender’s commitments
autamatically would tarminate.

Amaunts under the Credit Facility may be borowed, repaid and re-bormowed by us from time fo tme until the maturity of the facility. Violuntary prepayments
and commitment reductions requested by us ane permitbed at any Gme without o fee (other than customary breakage costs relating fo the prepayment of any
dranwn loans) upon proper notoe and subject te & minimum dollar requirement. Bormewings under the Credil Faciity bear interest at a rabe per annum, whach
will be, st our option, 2 rate equal 1o an appheable margin, which |8 subject to adjusiment based on the credil ratings of AB, plus one of the Tollowing indices:
aterm Secued Onemnight Financial Rate; a Prime rate; or the Federal Funds rate.

Aa of Decamber 31, 2004 and 2023, we had no amaounts oulstanding undes the Credit Facility, During 2024 and 2023, we did nat draw upan the Credit
Facility.

EQH Facility

AB also has a $9000 millan commined, ursecured senior credit facility ("EQH Facliity”) with EQH. The EGQH Facilty was amended and restaled as of
FAugust 30, 2024, extending the maturity date to August 31, 2025 There were no cther significant changes ncluded in the amendment. The EQH facility is
available for AB's general business purposes. Borrowings under the EQH Facility generally bear ineres? at a rale per annum based on prevailing ovennight
commercial paper rales

The EQH Facility cortains affrmative. negatre and financial covenants which are subslantialy simidar ko those in AB's commitbed bank facilties. As of
December 31, 2024, we weare in compliance with these covenants. The EQH Faciity also includes cusiomary events of default substantially simiar to those
n AB's committed bank; faciliies, inciuding provisions under which, upon the cocurmence of an event of default, all cutstanding loans may be accelerated
andior the lender's commBment may be termenated,

Amounts under the EQH FaciBty may be barrowed, repaid and re-barmowed by us from lime to time until the maturity of the faciity. AB or EQH may reduce or
mate the comr L al any time withoul penally upon proper notice, EQH also may berminate the facility immediately upon a change of control of our
general parner,

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, AB had 5T10.0 millon and $900.0 milkon cutstanding under the EQH Facility with interest rates of approximately 4 3%
and 5.3%, respectively, Average daily borrowings on the EQH Faclity duning 2024 and 2023 were 54342 milion and 57431 milbon, respectively, with
weighled sverage iMeres! rates of appresimately 5.2% and 4.9%, respectively.

EQH Uncommitted Facility

I addition to the EQH Facilly, AB has a $300.0 millon uncommitted, unsecured senicd credi facility "EQH Uncommitled Facllity”) with EQH. The EQH
Uncommstted Facilty was amended and restated as of August 30, 2024, extending the maturilty date to August 31, 2028 There were no clher significant
changes included in the amendment. The EQH Uncommitted faciify s available for AB's general business purposes. Borowings under the EQH Unsecured
Faciity generally bear interest at a rale per annum based on prevaiing cvernight commercial paper rates. The EQH Uncommitied Facilily contains
affirmative, pegative and financial covenarls which ane substamially similar o these in the EQH Facilty. As of December 31, 20024, we were in compliance
with these covenants. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the EQH Uncammitted Facility, We did not draw upon the
EQH Uncammitied Facility during 2024, Average daily bomowings duning 2023 were 53.6 million with 8 wesghted average interest rate of approximately
4 6%,

Commercial Paper

A3 of December 31, 2024, we had no commercial paper cutstanding. As of December 31, 2023, we had $254.3 millien of commercial paper cutstanding with
an nterest rabe of 5.4%, The commercial paper i shod lem in nature, and as such, recarded vahee & eslimated bo approximabe Fir value (and considered a
Level 2 security in the fair value hierarchy), foerage daily borrowings of commercial paper during 2024 and 2023 were $268 2 milion and $267.8 millien,
respectvely, with weighted average interest rates of approximately 5.4% and 5.2%, respectively.
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SCE Lines of Credit

SCB LLC had five uncommitted lines of credit as of December 31, 2023, two of which matured during the third quarter of 2024, As of December 21, 2024,
SCH LLC has thres uncommitted nes of credd wilh thiee firancial instftions, Two of theas lines of credit permet us 1o borrow up bo an aggregate of
approxinabely $150.0 milkan, with AB named as an additonal bosrower, while the other bne has no stated bmd. AB has agreed to guarantee the obligations
on SCB LLC wder these lines of creddl. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, SCB LLC had no oulstanding balance on these lines of credit. Average daily
barmowings on the lines of credd during 2024 and 2023 were $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectivaly. with weighted average interest rates of approxmately
B5% and T.5%, respectively

13. Leases

‘Wa lease office space, office equipment and technology under vanous operating and finandng leases. Ouwr current leases have initial lease tems of one
year o 20 years, some of which include options to extend the leases for up 1o five years, and some of which include options o terminale the leases within
gne year

Leases ncluded in the consolidated siatemants of financial condition as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows

m December 31, 2024 Decesmnber 31, 2023
{in thausiands)

Operating Leases
Operabing lease rght-of-use assots Right-of-use assels 5 441682 8 12,588
Operabing lease labilities Lease liabilfties. S04 BT EZ
Finance Leases
Property and equipment. gross Right-ol-use assels 18,544 18,875
Armartization of nghl-of-use assels Right-of-use assels {11,333} {7.797)

Propedty and equipment, nel B.215 1,178
Finance lease habililies Lease labilities B, 444 11,354

The components of lease exparse incheded in the consobdated statements of income far the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2073 were as folows:

Yoars Enced Dacembar 31

| Classifcaton | 2024 |
{in theamands)

Operating lease cost Ganeral and administrative 5 108580 2§ B4, 784
Financing lease cost:

Amorizaton of nght-ol-use assels Ganeral and admaniatrative i 351 4779

Interest on lease labilties Inleres! axpense 325 348
Total inance kease cosl 4,585 5157
ariable beass cost 1" General and admanisbrative 3B A4 35,525
Subleass income General and administrative (33,068) [Z3ETT)
Nat leasa cost 5 120012 § 101,858

M Varkab s oxpete ncludes cperating expardes. real estabe tnxes and amploye parking
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The subleass income represents all revenuss recened from sub-tenants. B s primarily foed base rental paymernts combined with vanable reimburserments
such as operating expenses, real estate taxes and employes parking. The vast majority of sub-tenant income is derved frem ouwr Mew York metro sub-tenant

agreements, Sub-tenant income refated bo base rent is recorded on a siraight-line basis,
Marurithes of lease labilites are &s folows

Year ending December 31,

2025 5 2231 % ] B3G52
2006 61,279 G4, 252
2027 58 405 58,621
2008 52,160 52 457
2029 49,235 - 40,235
Thereafter 415 485 — 415,485

Tolal lsase payrenls 625 BT BET % 704,705
Less imterest (151,708) {383

Present value of lease labilites $ 504,171 % B 444

We signed a lease thal commenced during the first quarter of 2024, relating fo approximately 166000 squane feed of space in New York Cily

Lease term and discount rate:

‘Waighled average remaining lease term {years):

Operating leases 1365

Firance leases 230
Welghted average discount rate:

Operating leases 4.41 %

Firanca laases 28 %

Supplemental non-cash activily related 1o leases are as follows:

Years Ended December 11

{in thoamands}

Right-ol-use assats obiained in exchange for lease oblgations'-

Operating leases

5 217318 % 32,407

Fimance leases

1.097 4,108

' Represents non-cash ety and, @ocordingly, ks not reflecied in the consolidated statoments of cash fiows.
14. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

As indicated in Note 13 Leases, we lease office space, office equipment and technology under varous leasing amangements. The fufure minimum payments
under non-canciiable lrases, sublrase commitments and related paymants we are cbligated fo make, met of sublease commitments of thind party lessees o

make paymants o us. a5 of December 31, 2024, are as follows:

119/144
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2025

2006

2007

2028 528 (27} £0.2
s 408 27} 471
2030 and thereafter 4185 4.7 414.8
Tedal future minimum payments 5 TI50 % (17.8) $ 897.2

Sea Note 13 Lesses for material leage commiments.

Legal Proceedings

For significant [iagation mablers, we assess the Buelhood of a negative oulcome. If a negalive oulcome is probable and the foss can be reasonably
estimated, we necord an eslimated losa. If a negative cutoome is reasonably possible and we can estimabe the potertial loss of range of loss, or if 8 negative
oubcome |8 probable and we can estimale the pofential loss or range of loss beyond any amounts already accrued, we disclose this infarmation. Hewever,
predicling outcomes of estimating lesses is often challenging due te itgation unceraintes, especially in early stages or complex cases. In swuch instances,
wer disclose our inabality b predict the cubcome o estimate losses.

AB may face regulatary inguries, admirssirative preceedings, and ligation, some alleging sgnificant damages. While it is possdle we could incur losses
from thase matters. we carnat currently estimate such losses or their range. Management, after consulting with legad counsel, balieves that the oulcome of
any individual or combined matters will nol materally affect our cperations, Snancial condition, or liquidity. However, due to mherent uncerainties, fulure
developments could poterdially have a matenial adverse effect on owr resulls, financial condition, or iquedity in fulure reporting peiods,

Guamraiees

Effective April 1, 2024 AB and SocGen complebed their previowsly announced transaction 1o farm the JVs. AL the time of dosing, Bemstein Institution:al
Services LLC ("BIS), the U5 broker-dealer subsidiary of the NA FV, entered inlo 8 credit faclity agreement with SocGen, as lender, providing for up to
550.0 milion of working capital. As a condition of the credd faciity and until SocGen's ownership exceeds 50% of NA W, AB will provide a limited guaranies
under which AB will guaraniee up fo its percaniage ownership, curmently 56.7%. of any unpaid obigations of BIS. As of December 31, 2024, there were no
unpaid obligations under this faclity requiring a guaraniee by AB,

In addticn, in connection with the dose of the rarsacton, AB wil indemnify SocGen Canada ("5G Canada™) for cerain oblgations and labilives in relaticn
to Sanford C. Bernslein Canada ("SCB Canada®™) until such time as SocGen exceeds 50% cwnership of NA JV (the “Canadian Regulatory Guarantee”).
Under the terms of the Canadian Regulatory Guarantee, SG Canada must guarantee the cuslomer liabilties of SCB Canada to the full extent of ds
regulatory capital which fluctuates based upon business actnaty. AB has agreed 1o indemnify 26 Canada for 88 7% of any amounts paid by SG Canada
under the Canadian Regulatory Guarartee As of December 31, 2024, there were no unpald obbgations requiring a guarantee by AB.

Commitments

Diuring the fourth quarter of 2024, we ertered into 8 nor-exclsive patnenship with Reinswance Groug of Amenca, ncorparated "RIGA") under which we
committed to nvest S100.0 maion in a rensurance sidecar vehicle sponsored by RGA and focused on the U5, asset-intensive reirsurance markel. AB
intends o manage private atermative assels for RGA's general account as par of a separate transacton, As of December 31 2024, we have funded $0.1
mallian of this cammitment.

15. Consolidated Company-Sponsored Investment Funds

We regularly provide seed capital io new company-sponsored irvestment funds. Az such, we may consolidate or de-consokdate & vanety of company-
sponsored investment funds each quarer. Due to the simiarily of risks relaled to our invabvement with each company-sponsored ivvestment fund,
disgclosures. required under the VIE model are aggregated, such as declesues reganding the carrying amount and classification of assss

We are not required 1o provide financial support 1o company-sponsored investment funds and only the assets of such funds are avadable 1o sefle each
fund's own Eabilties. Ow exposure to loss regarding consolidated company-sponsored imvestment funds s Bmited to our investment in, and owr
managemant e samed from, swuch funds. Equity and debl holders of such funds have no recowrse o AB's assels or to the generad credit of A8

&6 AllianceBernstein
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The balances of consolidated ViEs and VO Es included in cur consalidated sistements of inancal condition were as follows:

December 3, 2074 m

{in theusands)
ViEs VOEs Tatal VIEs VOEs Total

LCash and cash equivalents % 168711 % 38 5 1888 3 7572 % 167 % 7,739
Irvestmanis 2027 50765 140,792 2BEHD 110,555 T T4
Other assets 1,87 13,484 14,601 15010 10,289 25,299
Total assets 5 85015 % T2.56T7 & 187,582 % e 5 et 8§ 430,212
Liabddwes £ M5 5 1371 s 1716 % ag9 & 283 & 12,537
Redeemable non-controling interest 3,670 18819 A% 400 202582 6538 209420
Fariners' capital atinbutable to
AB Unitholdars 53,000 54377 107,377 BEE0 1M63%5 208,285
Todal liabilities, redeemable non-
controlling Interest and
partners’ capital ] 85,015 3 TZ56T & 157,582 § 308,201 5 121,01 5 430,212

During 2024, we decorsclidated nine funds in which we had seed mvesiments totaling approximately $129.0 million as of December 31, 2023 dus to no
ftanger having a controling fnancial interast.

Changes in the redeemabls non-controlling interest balance during the tweba-menth period ended December 31, 2024 are as follews (in thousands):

Redeemable non-coniroling interest as of Decamber 31, 2023 £ 208 420
Deconsolidated funds {20,806}
Changes in third-pany seed imestments in consoldated funds 45,875
Redeemable nen-controlling interest as of December 31, 2024 ¥ 48,489

Hi2d Anmual Report irg
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Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits. overmight commercial paper and highly iquid investments with ariginal maturities of
three manths or bess. Due to the shor-term nature of these instruments, the recorded value has been determined to approximate fair value

‘valuation of consolidated company-sponsored investment funds' financial instruments by pricing observability levels as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was
as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2024:

Irvestments - VIEs ] 15240 3% B5TET 3 — % A2,027
Irvesshmends - VOES it ] SE516 — 58,785
Dervatives - VIEs ] Lo - 101
Derreatrves - VOES — 11,483 - 11,483
Total assets measured at fair value 5 18837 % 136,838 % - % 152,378
Dervatives - VIES 5 T2 4 13 5 — g 85
Todal liabilities measured at fair value H T2 3 [ 5 — & A5
December 31, 2023:
Imvestments - YIEs H 49455 % 23T a8 % — 5 26 E1S
Investmants - VOEs 9,038 101,519 = 110,555
Dervatves - VIEs 213 2,763 — 4,902
Dervatives - VOEs - 8,775 —_ BT7S
Total assets measured at fair value - G060 8 3021 5 — 5 410,851
Derreatves - VIES 5 B4 5 1587 5 — & 250
Todal liabilities measuned at fair value 5 944 3 1,587 3§ - % 2,50

Sow Note 9 for a description of the fair value methodologies used for inslruments measured al fair value, as well as the general classification of such
ndtruments pursuant b the valusban hiesarchy,

There ware ne Level 3 financial instruments caied at fair value within the consolidated company-sponscred imestment funds during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023
Derivative Instruments

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VIEs held zero and $2 4 millon (net), respecthvely, of fulures, forwards, opthons and swaps within their portfolics. For
the years ended Decamber 31, 2024 and 2023 we recognized zero and $0.1 million of gans, respectively, on these derivatives These gans and losses ang
recognized in investment gains (losses) in the consckdated statements of income

Az of Decemnber 31, 2024 and 2023, the VIEs held zers and 51.4 mdion, respectively, of cash collateral payable fo rade counterparties. This oblgation to
reburn cash & repored in the liakilities of conscidaled company-sponsored imaestment funds in owr consolidated statements of financial condition

As of December 31, 20024 and 2023, the VIEs delvered 50.3 milkon and $1.4 milbon, respectnely, of cash collateral inte brokerage accouris. The VIEs
report this cash collateral in the consolidated company-sponsoned imvesiment funds cash and cash equivalents in our consofidated stalements of financial
condition:

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VOESs held $11.5 million and 53 8 million, respectively, of fulures, forwards, oplions and swaps within their portfolios,
Fes the year ended Decamber 31, 2024 and 2023, we recognized zero and $0.1 milien of losses, respectivaly, on these denvatives. These gains and losses
are recognized in imestment gains (losses) in the consalidated statemeants of income.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the VOEs hedd no cash collateral payable bo trade countemparties
As of December 31_ 2024 and 2023, the VO Es dedivered no cash collateral in brokerage accounts.

&i AllianceBernstein
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Offsetting Assets and Liabilities
Offsatting of derivative assets of consolidaied company-sponsored invesiment funds as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Qrass

December 31, 2024:
Derivatroes - VIES
Derivatrees - YOEs 1.480 43 1483
December 31, 2023:

Darivatves - VIES 5 4802 § — 5 45902 § — % {1415 § 3,487

L]
r
o
r
o

[

L]
o)
in

Oifsetting of derhvative iakdities of consclidated company-sponsared ivestment funds as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Ml

At

December 31, 2024:

Derivatroes - VIES g BS s s B3 5 5 B85 4

Decembaer 31, 2023:

Derivatres « VIES -3 233 3 - % 2531 % - % {1408 % 1,123

Cash collateral, whether pledged o received on detivalre nsiruments, & not considered malensal and, acoordingly, i not disclosed by coureqparty,

Non-Consolidated VIEs

A5 of December 31, 2024, the net assels of company-sponsored irvesiment products that are non-consclidated VIES e approxmately 3489 billion; gur
maximum sk of loss s cur mvestment of 3173 million in these VIES and our advisory fees receivable from these VIEs are 51152 milkon, As of
Decembar 31, 2023, the nel assets of company-sporsoned imestiment products thal were ron-consalidated VIEs was approximately $54.6 bdhon, o
maximi nsk of loss was cur investment of 5103 million in these VIEs and our adviscry Tees receivable from these VIES wera $114.5 milion.

16. Net Capital

SCH LLC is regisbered as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act and is subjed! 1o the minmum net capdal requirements imposed by the LS, Secunties
and Exchange Commission ("SEC™). SCE LLC compules its nel capdal under the allernatree method permitied by the appheable rule, which requires that
raramum nel capdal, as defined, equals the greater of $1.5 million o two percent of aggregate debit flems ansing from cusiomer ransactions, as defmed. As
of December 31, 2024, 5CB LLC had net capital of $150.4 milion, which was $161.7 milion in excess of the required minimum net cagital requirement of
$28.7 million. Advances, dividend payments and cther equity withdrawals by SCB LLC are restricted by regulations imposed by the SEC, the Financial
Industry Reguiatory Authonty, inc., and other secunties agencies.

AllianceBematen Imesiments, Inc, CABF), another ane of our subsidianes and the distributor andior underwriter for celuin company-sponsorsd mutual
funds, 8 regatered as & broker-dealer under the Exchange Aot and = subject fo the miremum nel capial requirements imposed by the SEC, As of
Decambear 31, 2024, AR had net capdal of 5275 milkon, which was 527 2 milion in excess of its reguired minimum net capital of $0.3 milkon

Our UK -based broker-deabsr and vanous infernational subsidianes which were subjéct o minimum nél capital requingments wene contributed to the jint
ventuwres effective Apnl 1, 2024. Sea Note 24 Diveshitures for further discussion
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17. Counterparty Risk

Customer Activities

In the rormal course of business, brokerage actnaties involve the execution, settiement and financing of vafious cuslomer securfies irades, which may
expose our brokerdealer eperations to off-balance shes sk by requining us to purchase o sell securilies af prevading markel prices in the event the
cuslomer s unabla ta fulfill iks comraciual obligations

Ouwr cuslomer secunties actiilies are transacted on either 3 cash or margen basis In margn iransactions, we exlend credit to the customer, subject 1o
various regulatary and intemal margin requitements. These transactions ane collaleralzed by cash or securities in the customer's account, In connection with
these aclivities, we may execute and clear customer irsnsactions involving the sale of securities nol yet purchased. We seek to controd the nske associated
with margin transactions by requiring customers to maintain collateral in compliance with the aforamentioned regulatory and imemal guidelines. We moniicr
requied margin bevels daily and, pursuant to such guideknes, require customers to deposit additional collateral, or reduce positions. when necessary. A
majority of our cusiomer margin accounts are managed an a discrebonary basis whereby we maintain conlrol over the imvesiment aclivity n the accounts,
For these discnetionary accounts, our mangin deficiency exposse is minmized by our mainkaining a diversified portfclio of securibies in the accourts, ow
discretionary authority and our LS -based broker-dealers role as cushodan

In accordance with induslry practice, we record customer transachions on a setllement date basis, We are exposed o risk of loss on these transactions in the
event of the customes’s inability lo meed the terms of their conbracts, in which case we may hawe lo purchase or sell Enancial instruments al prevaiing market
prices. The risks we Bssume in conneclion with thess ransactions: are not expected to have & material adverse effect on our Bnancial condition or results of
aperations.

Other Counterparties

We are engaged in verious brokersge, fulures, forwands, options and swap Sctivites on behall of clents, m which courtempantes prmarily include broked-
dealers, banks and cther financial institutions. In the event these counlerpartes do not Tulfill thesr abligatons, our clients and we may be exposad to loss.
The risk of default depends on the creditworthiness of the counterparty. it is cur policy to review, as necessary, each counterparty's creditworthiness,

In conmection with secunly barrewing and lending arangements, we enber inbo collateralized agreaments, which may resull i potential koss in the event the
counterparty te 8 transaction i unable to fulfll its contractual obligations. Securfly borrowing arrangements require us to depesit cash collaberal with the
bender. With respect to securily lending amangements, we receive collateral in the form of cash in amounts genarally in excess of the market vaiua of the
secuties loaned. We attempl 1o mitigate credd risk associaled with these activilies by establishing credit limits for sach broker and mondenng thesa limits on
a daily basss, Additionally, security bosrowing and lending collateral is marked to marke! on a daily baais, and additional coliateral is deposited by or returned
10 LS 8% Mecessany,

Thirgugh the nomal course of business, we may have bank depasits thal exceed FDIC insurance limits. A fadure of the bank could lead 1o losses on cur
deposits. These deposils levels are ofien lemporary, and we atternpl fo miligate this rsk by wsing high quality banks that are systemicaly impertant

‘e enter inlo various fulures, lorwards, oplions and swaps primarly to economically hedge certain of owr seed money investments. We may be exposed o
cradit losses in the event of nonperlrmance by counterparties to these demvative financial instruments. See Nofe 7, Denvative Insfrumenis for further
disursgion

18. Qualified Employee Benefit Plans

‘We mairtain & qualied peofit sharing plan covering LS. employess and cerain foreign employees. Employer contnbutions are discreticnary and ganerally
Emitad lo the maximum amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. Aggregale contributions were $19.7 milion, $19.0 milion and $17.5 million for
2024, 2023 and 2022, respeciively,

‘We mairtain several defined contibution plans for foresgn employees working for owr subsidianes in the Unfled Kingdom, Auslralis, Japan and olher
lpcations outside the United Stales Employer contributions gemerally are consisient with regulatory requerements and tax Bmits. Defined contribution
experme for Soreign entfies was 9.3 million, $11.7 million and $10.2 milkan in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respedively.

We mantain & quaifed, noncontributery, defined benefil retrement plan (the “Retirement Plan™) covenng curerd and farmer employess who were
employed by AB in the United States prior 1o October 2, 2000. Benefits accnes under the plan based on years of credited sarvice, average final base salary
{as defired in the Retirement Plan) and primary Social Security benaflits. Service and compensation afler December 31, 2008 are not taken inte account in
determiring paricipants’ relirernant Banefils

B0 allianceBernstein
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During 2024, the Compersation Commiltee of the AR Board of Directors approved the terminatian of the Retirement Flan, effective May 22, 2024, We bagan
the process of setiing benefits with vested pasticipants and all lump sum disbursaments elected by plan participants were distributed in December 2024 in
fhe amourd of 3350 millien. The remainmng retirement plan participants who did net elect a lump sum disbursement elected to roll over their benefi to a
group annuily contract from a qualiied insurance company to adminster all future payments. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized a
non-cash gattement charge of apprecmately $13.1 millon related to Relirement Flan losses and the reclassification from accumulated other comprehensie
loss to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of incoma. The company will elect the qualfied insurance company 1o administer
all future payments duning the firs! quaner of 2025 sl which paint, the remaining benefit obligation will be purchased by the inswance carmer and we will fully
ferminate the plan and recognize a gain or loss on the persion setfiement at that time, As of December 31, 2024 the Retirement Plan was undesfunded with
a benefil abligation of $58.5 mdlion and plan assets of $63.3 milkon,

Quwr policy is to salisfy cur funding chligation for each year in an amount nol less than the minimum required by ERISA and not greater than the madimum
amourd we can deduct fior federal income tax purposes, We did nol make a confribufion to the Retirement Plan duing 2024, The Company expeds io make
a gontnbution 1o the Retrement Plan during the first quarer of 2025 in the amount of $5.3 million 1o fully fund the Retirement Plan, purchase the group
annuty sonlract and seftle the remaining terminaton costs associabed with The Retrement Flan

The Retirement Plan's projected benaflit obligation, fair value of plan assets and funded sialus (amounts recognized in the consolidated siatements of
financial condition] were as follows

Years Ended December 31

{in thoasands}
Change in projecled benefil obligation
Projected benafit obiigation at beginning of year 5 8426 0§ 100,480
Irleres] cosl 3,025 5199
Flan settlemants {38, 245) —
Aciuaial loss (gain) 7.655 (9a4)
Benefils paid _ {3,281) {6.269)
Projecied beneflit sbligation at end af year £8.570 88 426
Change in plan assats:
Flan assals a1 fasr value al begiming of year 101,376 95,880
Actual retum on plan assets 4 4TE 11,655
Fan settlements {38, 245) —
Banefils paid {3:281) (6.269)
Ffan sssats a1 faér vakee at end of year 3,328 101,376
Funided status 5 [5.254] § 2,850

Effective Decernber 31, 2015, the Retrement Plan was amended 1o change the actuaral basts used for sorering a life srnuily benelit to epbianal farms of
payment and corverting benefils payable at age 65 1o earier commencement dates. This prior senice cost will be amonized over future years.
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The amounts recognized in other camprehanshae income for the Retitement Plan for 2024, 2023 and 2022 were as Tallows:

in thersa ndy)

Unrecogrized net gain fram expenence different from that assumed and effects of changes and

assumptions 5 553 5 8815 & 6519
Prior sendce cosl 24 24 24

5558 8838 5543
Income tax (experss) 20§ (3 {33
Other comprehensive income 5 553 % 8830 & 8,510

The gain of $5.5 millon recognized in 2024 was prmarily dug to lump sum settlement activity of 3137 million (5131 milion of selilement relaled gans

recogrized from accumulated obher comprehensive income 1o a realized loss on the corsobdaled statements of incame dunng the year ended December 31,

2024 and $006 million of pension cost amortzation) offset by a loss of (58.2 milkon). The less of (58,2 million) reflects a decreass in the discount rate dus o

plan termination assumplions using a yeeld curve rather than ongoing accounting basis asswem ptions vsing a bond model increasing the benefit chligation by

g-? millign), termination pricing increagang the obligation by (55,7 million) and a loss on plan assels of (306 milion), offset by néw census data of
3 milion

The gain of 588 milon recognized m 2023 was primarly due to aclual earmmngs exceeading expected eamings on plan assets of (56.9 million), the
recognized acluaral loss of (509 milion) changes in the discount rate and lump sum inferes! rates of (20.5 million), and changes in the census data
(30,5 million)

The gain of 56.5 million recognized in 2022 was primarily due to changes in the discount rate and lump sum interest ates of (538.7 milion), settemant loss
recognized of ($1.7 million} and the recegnized achuarial loss of (51.0 millien), offset by actual eamings less than expected samings on plan assets of
{3340 million), changes in the census data (205 milion) and changes in adustments for parbicipants who recenved thesr pension as a lump sum
{50.4 million)

Feraign retiremant plans and an ndividual's retirement plan maintained by AB are not material to AE"s consclidated financial slatements. As such_ disclosure
for these plans s not necessary, The reconcilation of the 2024 amourts recognized in other comprehensive income Tor the Retirement Flan as companed o
the consoldatled statement of comprehénsnve inbome (the “OCI Stalement”™) & as follows

Recognized aciuanal gain H 553 § 573 5§ b 6,435
Amarization of prior serice cost 24 — - 24
Changes in emplayes benefit related items 5558 573 328 6,455
Income tax (experse) {20} (4} {65} {39y
Employes benefit related items, net of tax H 5518 § 560 5 23 5 6,370

Ther amaunits included in accumudated olher comprehensive loss for the Retirement Plan as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

{in thousands)
Unrecognized net loss from expenence different from that assumed and effects of changes and sssumplions ] (2288 § (28433
Prior sendee cost (611} {635)

{23.510) [25.068)
Irctarmi lax benefil 147 168
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 5 (23.36)) & [28.900)

Thee boss Tor the Retirement Plan from accumulated other comprehensive loss will be recognized as a realized loss to the consolidated statements. of income
upon plan seftlement in 2025,

2 AlliarceBarnilsn

126/144



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
OOoooooooooooooood

Part il

The accumulated benefit cbigation for the plan was 568 6 millon and $55.4 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The discount rates used (o determing benefit obligations as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (measuwement dales) were 5.15% and 5.40%. respectively. The
dissounl rale lo determine the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2024 has been adjusted by the annuity purchase premium lo estimale the impending
annuly punchase i 2025

Banefil payments are expecied b be paid as follows (in thousands )
2025 5 GB,BES

Met expense under the Retirement Plan consisted of!
Years Ended December 31

{iny treowesa s
Irterest cost on projected beneft abbgations ] 5025 % 5199 % 3,958
Espected relurn on plan assets {5,056) (4,776) {6.591)
Amodizaton of prior service cost 24 24 24
Seltlemnant bas recognized 13,104 — 1678
Recogrized acluanal loss BES 852 1,042
Net pension expense 5 11763 § 1388 § m

Actuarial computations used o detenming nel pariodic costs were made utilizing the following weighled-average assumplions:

Yoears Erdded Docamiber 31

Cescownt rate on benafit obligations 540 % 550 % 250%
Expected lang-term rabe of reluin on plan asssls 525% 525% 525 %

in develaping the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 5.25%, management considered the historical returns and future expectations for
reburns for each assel category, as well as the target asset aflocation of the portfolio. The expected long-term rate of relumn on assets i based on weighted
average expecied returrs for each asset class

As of Decembar 31, 2024, the moetality projection assumption uvsed the generational MP-2021 improvement scale, which i consistent with the improvement
scale usad in 2023 and 2022 The base moetality assumpbon used is the Society of Actuaries PRI-2012 base mortality table for private secior plans, with a
white-collar adpustment. using the contingent annuitant table for beneficiaries of deceased participants,

Fedf fiscal year-end 2024, we reflected the most recently published Internal Revenue Sendce iable for lumg sums paed in 2024
The Retirermant Plan's asset allocation percentages consisted of

Years Ended December 34

Equity — % 2%
Dbt secunties BA &2
Cther 12 10
Tedal 100 % 100 %

The Imesiment Committes oversses imestments for the benefit of the Retirernent Flan. The objective of the irmesiment program s to closely match the
patential plan termination Eabikty and to minimize funded states volatility, thereby prometing the ongoing ability of the Retimment Flan o meet future
Eabilties and obligations, while minimizing the need for addiional contributions and managing the Relirement Plan's funded status appropriately. The assat
aliocalion was updated to 100% labily hedging investments (cash and cash eguivalents) in light of the pending Rebrement Plan termination

Sae Note 9, Fair Value for a description of how we measure the Tair value of our plan assals.
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Thee vishsation of our Relirement Flan assets by pricing observabilfy kevals as of Decermber 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows (in thousands)

Decermber 31, 2024

Cash 5 a5 % — % - & 5E18
Fixed income secuwribes - 58 g34 - 55 830
Irvesiments measured al net assels value . " - 1,868
Investments al fair value § 5618 3§ 55839 &% — & 63,325
December 31, 2023

Cash 5 G445 — 5 - & B
L5, Treasury Strips — 15,764 — 15,764
Fixed incarme mutual funds federd - — 221
Fixed ncome securibes - 46 443 - 46,443
Equity mutual funds 9,82 — — 8,821
Equity secunties 10,231 —_ - 10,231
Total assels in the fair value heranchy 3,267 62207 — B5.474
Irvesiments measured &l nel aisels value — - - 15,002
Invesiments af fair value H 23,287 § 62007 % — % 101,376

During 2024 the Retirement Plan's investments include the Tollowing:

+ feed income securities prmarily invested in bonds and ncluded a5 a level 2 secunty,
During 2023 the Retremen! Plan's investments include the fobowing:

= one mulkl assed fund in 2023, i which the fund pursued an aggressne imestment strategy imvoling 8 vanely of asset classes. This fund seeks inflation
pratection from irestments around the globe, beth in developed and emerging market countries;

* %in equity mudual funds in 2023, which focus on both U5 -based and non-U. S -based equily secunties of vanous capilalization sizes rangng from small lo
large capitalization and diversfied portéolios within those capitalizalion ranges;

= one asset efocaton mutual which was bquidated in 2023,

- one separalely managed accownt in 3023, managed agains! the Bloomberg Long U.S. Caorporate indax. This poetiols irvests in US, dollar denominated
invesiment grade fixed income securities with at least 10 yearns 1o maturity;

= invesiments measured al nel asset vahse, including one hedge fund in 2023, The hedge fund seeks to provide altractive risk-adiusted relunms cver full
marked cycles with less wolatdity than that of broad equety markets by allecating all or substantially all of their assets among porifeiio managers through
portiolio funds that empley a broad range of investment strategies.

19. Long-term Incentive Compensation Plans

We maintain an unfimded, non-qualfed incentive compensalion program known as the AllanceBematein Incentive Compensabon Auand Program (the
“Incentive Compensation Program’), under which annual awards may be gramed to eligible employees, See Nafe 2 “Summany of Significant Accsuniing
Podicies — Long-Termn incentive Compensation Flans” for a discussion of the award provisions

Under the Incentive Compensation Program, we made awards in 2024, 2023 and 2022 aggregating $184.3 million, 51702 milhon and $164.3 million,
respectively. The amounts charged to employee compensation and benefits expense for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were 52080
mallion, $183.0 mition and $160.1 millicn, respectively.

Effective as of Septernber 30, 2017, we establsshed the AB 2017 Lang Term Incentive Flan (2017 Plan7), which was adopbed al a special meeting of AB
Hedding Unithalders beld on September 20, 2017 The following forms of awards may be granbed o employees and Elgible Direchars (dreclors who satisly
appbeable independence standards) under the 2017 Planc (i) restricted AB Hodding Units or phamom restricled AB Holding Units (a “phantom” award (s a
contraciual right to receive AB Holding Units at a later date or upon a specified avent), (i) oplions 1o buy AB Holding Lnfts; and (iii) ather AB Holding Uns-
based awards (including. without limitatson, AR Holding Unit appreciation rights and performance awards). The purpose of the 2017 Plan s to proemate the
nbereat af AB by (i) aliractng snd relaining talented officers, employees and directens, (i) matvating such oficers, employess and directons by means af
performance-related meerdives lo achieve longer-range business and
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operational geals, (i) enabling such officers, employees and directors lo pasticipate in the lang-lerm grewth and financial suscess of AB, and (iv) aligring the
interests of such officers, employees and drectors with those of AB Holding Uinithoiders. The 2017 Plan will expire on September 30, 2027, and no awards
under the 2017 Plan will be made after that date, Linder the 2017 Plan, the aggregate number of AB Holding Units with resped to which awards may be
granted is B0 millon, induding no mone than 30 million newly-isswed AB Holding Unis.

As of Decembaer 31, 2024, 35,854 070 AB Hoiding Units, ned of withhodding tax requinements, were subject 1o other AB Holding Unit avwards made under the
21T Plan or the AlianceBamstein 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended, an equily compansation plan with similar terms that was canceled on
Seplember 30, 2017, AB Holding Unit-based awards in respect of 24,145380 AB Holding Unils were available for grant under the 2017 Plan as of
December 31, 2024

As of December 31, 2023, 32,738,157 AB Helding Units. ned of withholding tax requirements, were subject 1o other AB Holding Linit awards made under the
20T Plan or the AllianceBemsiein 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended, an equily compensation plan with similar berms thal was canceled on
Seplember 30, 2017. AB Holding Unil-based awards in respect of 27 261 843 AB Holfing Unils were available for grard undér the 2017 Plan as of
December 31, 2023

Clawbacks

The award agreement comtained in the Iincentive Compersation Pregram pesmite AB bo clawback the urvesled portion of an awand if the reciplent faits to
adhere 1o our sk managemenl pobcies, Funher, pursuant o Rule 1001 of the Securites Exchange Act of 1934 (lhe "Rule”) and Section 3034 14 of the
WYSE Listed Company Manual, the Board of Directors (the "Board™) has adopted a Compensation Recovery Policy (the "Policy”) effective Movember 15,
2023 Pursamnt to the Policy, the Company will promptly recover erronsously awarded incentive-based compersation (as defined by sedtion 10D4b)(1) to
include any compensation that is granted, earmed or vested whelly or in pant upon attainment of a financial reporting measure) from any curment or farmes
Executive Officer of the Company as defined by Rule 1001 of the Excharge Act as required under the Exchange Acl and the NYSE Lsted

Manual. The company does nol cumently award incentive-based compansation as defined by the Rule. We have filed the Policy as Exhibd 9707 to this Foem
10-KL

The poion of meantive-based sompensation received from EQH specific to Seth Barmstein, our Cheef Executive Officer, and Onur Erzan, our Head of Glabal
Chenl Group and Privale Wealth, i covered under he Compensation Recovery Policy adopted by cur parert EQH and will be applicable o any currert of
previous incentive-based compensation recenved directly from our parent company by Me. Bermstein and Mr. Erzan.

Restricted AB Holding Unit Awards

In 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Board granted resiricted AB Holding Unit awards to Eligible Direciors. Thesa AB Holding Unils give the Elgible Dwectors, in
mast instances, al the rights of cther AB Holding Unithelders, subpect to such restrictions on transfer as the Board may imposa.

W award resiricted AB Holding Units to Eligible Directors thal vest ratably over three years. We fully expersed these awards on each grant date, as there is
o senace requirement. Grant delails related 1o these swards is as follows:

Restricted Units Awarded 30,870
Weighted Average Grant Dale Fair Value g 3855
Compensation Expense (in milkons) 5 5 0 % 1.2

Under the Incentive Compensation Program, we awarded 4.7 milbon resincled AB Holding Units in 2024 (which mcluded 4.4 million resiticied AB Holding
Linits in Decembeer for the 2024 year-end swards as well a5 0.3 million additional restricted AR Holding Units granbed earlier duning the year relating 1o the
2023 year-and awards), with grant date fair values per restncied AB Holding Und ranging bebaveen $30.55 1o 536 19

‘We awarded 5.2 million restricled AB Holding Units in 2023 (which incheded 5.0 million resiricted A8 Holding Urits in December for the 2023 year-end
awards a3 well as 0.2 million additional restricled AB Holding Units granted earber during the year relating to the 2022 year-end awards), with grant dabe fair
walues per reslricted AB Holding Uit ranging bebween $30.56 1o 53584

We awarded 4.2 milion resiricted A Holding Units in 2022 (which intluded 3.8 million restncled AB Holding Units in December for the 2022 year-and
awards as wold a5 0.4 million additional resticied AB Holding Units granted earber during the year relaled 1o the 2021 year-end awards), with grant date fair
walues per restricted AS Holding Unit ranging bebween $385 84 1o $50.94.

Restricted AB Holding Units awarded under the Incentive Compensation Program generally vest in 33.3% increments on December 17 of each of the three
years immediately follgwing the year in which the award s granted
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We also award restricled AB Holding Units in cornection with certain employment and separalion agreements, as well as relocation-related performancs
awards, with vesting schedules generally ranging bebsean two and ten years. Grand details related fo these awards is as follows:

{in milions excisding share prices)

Restricted Units Awarded 1.2 05 05
Grant Date Fair Value Range 526046 - 237 .26 527 BE6 - £33.53 %34 BE - 54990
Campansalion Expansa ] 176 5 N1 5 20

The fair value of tha restncled AB Helding Linits is amortized over the requisite service penod as compensation expense. Changes in unvested resticied AB
Helding Urets during 2024 ane as follows:

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 13,447,555 H 35.02

Granied 5,922 324 B
Wesled (6.740,540) 325
Forfeited {210, 088) 3515
Unvested as of December 31, 2024 12419251  § .47

The total grant date fair vehee of restricted AB Holding Units thal vested was $244.4 million, $235 8 million and $245 2 million duning 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectivaly. As of December 31, 2024, the 12419251 unvested restricted AB Helding Units consist of 9,185,206 restricied AB Holding Units that do not
have a service requrement and have been fully expersed on the grant date and 3,229,965 resticted AB Holding Units that have a service requirement and
will b exparsed cver the tequited service paricd As of December 31, 2024 (hate was 5935 milkan of compensalion sxpense related (o urvested resiricted
AB Halding Unit awards granled and nol yel recogrzed in the consalidated siatement of income. We expect to recognize the expense over a weighled
average paricd of 5.35 years,

20. Units Qutstanding
Changes in AB Units autstanding for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Outstanding as of January 1, 286,609,212 265,975,513
Urite msued 12627827 3,763 504
Units retired™ 7129933 (2654, 295)

Outstanding as of December 31, 292,107,007 286,608,212

On December 10, 2024, the company entered iMo & masher exchange agreement with EQH providing for the sswance by AB of up to 10,000,000 wnits
representing assignments of benalicial ownership of limited partnesship interests in AB CAB Unlts™) fo EQH in exchange for an egual number of AB Helding
Urdts cwned by EQH, with such exchanges 1o ooccur ever the next two years. Each AB Holding Uink exchanged will be retired follawing the exchange. On
Deceambar 19, 2024, EQH and AB exchanged 5211194 AB Units for AR Holding Units and the AB Holding Units wera retired. See Exhibd 10.32 to this Form
10K for further detmls,

in addition to the master exchange agreemant, on December 15, 2024, AB entered inlo 8 purchase agreement providing for, and consummaled, the sale by
A of 4,215,140 AB Units to EQH

T Inchudes 4,215,140 nnd 5,211,164 Unts issued in connection with o soparnte perchase ond masier gachange agreomsnt ontered into with EQH on Docomiper 18, 2024,
rospaGioely. S Exifalit 10,37 and' 10,33 50 this Feam 10-K.

= includes 5.211,194 Linis retingd in connaction with & master sachange ngroament entored into with ECH on Duecamibar 19, 3024, Sew Exhitl 1032 bo This Foem 10-K
W During 20 and 2023, wo purchased 21,877 and 5,685 AR Units, respoctively, in private transactions. and refined them.
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21. Income Taxes

AB, a private imiled partnership, s not subject to federal or state corporabe income taxes. However, AB is subject to a 4.0% MNew York City unincorporated
business tax ("UBT"). Our domestic corporate subsidianes are subject bo federal, state and local income taxes, Bnd generally are included in the filng of 8
congolidated federal income tax return. Separate state and local income tax refturrs afso are filed, Foreign corporate subsidaries generally are subject to
taces in the jurisdictions whene they ane located,

In erder to preserve AB's status as a private parinership for fededal income tax purposes, AB Units must not be considered publicly traded. The AB
Parinership Agreement provides that all transfers of AB Units must be approved by EQH and the General Partnar, EQH and the Gereral Pariner approve
only these transfers permitted pursuant te one or mome of the safe harbors contained in the relevant Treasury reguiations. I AB Units were considered
readdy tradable, AB's net ncome would be subjes! o federal and state corporabe income tax, significantly reducing its quadedy distnbution 1o AB Holding.
Furthermone, should AB enter imo B substantial rew line of business, AB Holding, by virtue of its ownership of AB, would lose (ks staius as & publicly traded
parinership and would become subject lo corporate income ta, which would reduce matenally A8 Holding's net income and &5 quaredy distnbutions to AB
Hedding Linithohders.

Earmings bafars income laxes and inooms i axpanse consisl of

Years Ended Desamber 31

{in theousands)
Earrings belore income laxes:
Unied States ¥ 107535 3 Tid7dz § 30,278
Faoineign 183,323 102 534 125,818
Total f 125888 § 87870 % 815,008
Ircatri LB EXprerse:
Parinership UBT ) 12458 § THME 0§ k]
Carporabe sisbsadianes:
Fedaral BE 2855 1.457
State and local 1,345 914 am
Faraign 51,784 35,506 M E2T
Canren tax expenss 65,466 47 513 4271
Dederred tax {1,323 {18,462 (3.072)
Income tax expense 5 65,143 § 2081 0§ 39,639
2024 Anrsuad Report L
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The peincipal reasons for the difierence between the effectve lax rabes and the UBT statutory tax rate of 4.0% are as folows:

Yeurs Ended December 11

{iry thyonrica nafis
LIBT statubory rate 3 50,345 40% % =277 d0% 3§ 32604 4.0%
Corporate subsidiaries’ Tederal, state, and
local 2,238 032 i.538 06 1,460 2
Foreign subsidianes taxed at differen! rates 42304 34 BE.TEA 45 2564 4.0
FIM 42 reserve (releass) = = (2,858 03 — b
UBT business allocalion percentage rate
change (B34 {04 (1,043) o1 158) —
Defesred tax and payable write-offs 11 Q1 1.750 02 1,088 0
Feeelgn cutside basis differance 126 — 3414 0.4 [1.535) 0.2y
‘Valuation alliowance reserve (release) (18] - (22,44T) 2n = —
Effect of ASC 740 adjustments,
misoellanecus taxes, and olher 3474 03 3553 04 5366 o7
Tax Credids (25) — 1,604) 0.3 [5.275) (0.6}
Income not taxable resulting from wse of
LBT business appomicnment facions and
effest of campensabon charge {33,654 @n {25 761 3m {26.635) (23
Income tax expense and effective tax
rate 5 65,143 2% § 29,051 Je% § 19,638 4.9 %

We recognize the effects of & tax positson in The Bnancial statements only if, a3 of the reponting dabe, it % "mone likely than rot” o be sustained based on ds
ftechracal ments and its applicability to the Tacts and circumstances of the lax position. In making this nerd, wie assume that the taxing authority will
examing the tax postion and have full knowledge of all relevant infonrmation.

A meconciliation of the beginning and ending amaunt of urrecognzed tax benefits is as follows:

Years Ended December 31

{in thecrurmandis)

Balance as of beginning of period 5 - F 2838 % 2,838
Additiors far prics year 18 positions = X 2
Reductions for priar wear tax positions — — —
Additions for current year tax positions — = —
Reductons for curmenl year tax positions = = —
Reductions relaled to closed years/settiements with tax authornities - (2.838) —

Balance as of end of period ] il - § 2,838

The amount of unrecognized tax benefils as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, when recognized, |8 recorded as 8 reduction bo iIncome 18x expenss
and reduces the company’s effactise tax rate.

Interest and penallies, if any, relating to tax positions are recorded in income fax expansa on the consolidated statements of income. As of December 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022, there is no accrued mbterest of penaities reconded on the consobdaled stafements of financial condition

Genermlly, the company is no longer subject to LS. federal, state or local income (ax examinations by tax awthorities for any year prior to 2020, except a5 sat
forth below,

Dwring the third quaster of 2023, the City of New York notified us of an examination of AB's UBT returns for the years 2020 through 2021, The examenation is
ongoing and no provision with respect to this examination has been recorded,
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Currartly, thede are no income lax examinations at our sgnificant non-ULS. subsidearies. Years that remain open and may be subject bo examination vasy
under lecal law and range from one bo seven years

Deferred income laxes reflect the net tax eflect of lemporary differences bebween ihe carrying amourts of assets and habilities for financal reparling
purposes and the amounts wsed fos income tax purposes. The tax effect of significant ibems compeising the net defermed tax assat (Sabiliy) is as follows:

Years Ended December 21

{in theanands)
Deferred tax asse
Differénces between book and tax basis:
Benefits from net cperating loss camyfonsands 5 14242 % 11,350
Long-lemm incentive compensabon plans 11,395 12,519
Imvestment bass diferences 12877 11,880
Depreciation and amonization 3,647 3,708
Lease liabiity 2,540 4,324
Irvestment in foreign subsidinnes. - 33427
Capdal boss carryfarward 34069 —
Tax credils carryforsard 5,300 5710
Cther, primanily nccrued sxpenses deductible when paid 8,181 B.988
85851 91,824
Less: vahmation allowance |25,995) (&35
Defemed tax assel T0655 53,345
Daeferrad tax imbildy,
Differences betwean book and tax basis:
Intangdhle assels 12254 11,454
Investmant in foreign subsidiasies BEGT -
Right=-of-use assel 5.168 3,730
Other 2485 3,020
Dieferred tax kability 25 604 18,204
Net deferred tax asset 5 45051 § 45,141

Valuation allowances of 528.0 million and $28.6 millon were eslabished as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectrvely, primarily due to ssgnificant
negative svdence thal capital lesses ganerated in the sale of faeaign subsidarnies will pot be ublized, ghven the Asture of income expeciad 1o be incured by
the applicable subsidiaries. As a resul of the deconsolidation of BRS and contributicn to the Jvs in 2024, capital loss casry forwards of §140.2 milkon were
generaled from the contribution of foresgn entities mbo the 1v's and was reflected in the prior year as an irvestment in subsidianes defemed lax ssset The
capital loss caryforward has a five year expiralion penod. We had net operating loss carylonsards at December 31, 2024 and 2023 of approcmately 35687
maion and 344.0 million, respecively. in cedain forsign locations with a five year expirabon penad

The deferred tax asset is included in other assets in owr consolidated statement of financial condition. Management beleves there will be sufficient future
taxabie income to realize the tax benefits related to the remaining nat deferred tax assets recognized that ane not subject 1o valuation allowances

The company provides income laxes on the unremitted eamings of non-U.S. corporate subsidianies except bo the edent thal such earmngs ane indefinibely
reinvested cutside the United States. As of Decembar 31, 2024, 5296 milion of undistributed earmings of nen-UL5. corporate subsidiaries were indafinitely
vwashed outside the 5. Al existing applicable income tax rates. additional taxes of approximately 56.1 millon would meed to be paid f such eamings arne
remitted
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Management has assessed the requirements of ASC 280, Segment Reporting, and determined that, because we uilize 8 consolidated approach 1o assess
performance and allocate resources, we have only one operating segment. We provide diversified imestment management, resaacch and related services
glabally 1o a broad range of clients through our three disiribaution channels: Instilutions, Retail and Prrvate Wealth Managemant.

The Cheef Operating Decision Maker (SCODM™) is the Chief Executive Officer of AB. The CODM evaluates the réporied measure of segemen profit of loss in
assessing segment performance and deciding how 1o allccate resowces. Significant segment expenses are part of the CODM review and are critically
important to understand the level of preftablity and overad perfgrmance of the company. This assessmant will determine the way in which the CODM

allocates resources to our respective business operations.

Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss and How the CODM Uses the Reported Measure

The CODM regularly receives financal information and managament reports thal are prepared on a consolidated basis. When assessing proftability,
allocaling resources and evaluating the undeslying performance of our business, the CODM uses consclidated net income as reparted on the consolidated
slatements of income. In applying the requrements under ASC 230, the comparny has identilied signficant segment expenses and other segment fems
related to our one oparating segment. The significant expenses consldered by the CODM in evaluating the performance of our business are consistent with
tha financial information ncluded on the company's consolidated statements of income. The measuremant of assels as evaluated by the CODM is repored
as “Tofal assels” on the consoidated statements of financial condition, A% an addiioral measure of segmend profit or loss, the CODM considers cefain
adjustmants te consolidated net ncome, While management uses these additional adjusted matrecs in assessing and allocating resources 1o the business,
management recognizes that US GAAP princples are the basis of our performance. The accounting palicles of our ane cperating segment are desenibed in

Nobs 2 “Significant Accounting Folicies”.
Enterprise-wide disclosures as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Services

Met reveruses derved from our imvestment management, research and related services wore as follows:

Yoars Ended Decamber 31

2033

{in thousands)
Institutions' " ] o078 % BEEET0 % 58,883
Retaif '+ 23,37 1,926,020 2,000,908
Private Wealih Management 1,245 691 1052843 1,004,003
Berrsiein Research Sarvices & 96,222 385,142 416,273
Other 208 428 231,188 39,561
Total revenues 4,550 652 4,262 854 4,120,728
Less: Broker-dealer related Inferest expense B4,513 107 541 56,438
Mel révenues 5 4475130 § 4155323 5§ 4054200

' Institutions, Rotall and Private Wealth mansgement revenuss by channel includa imestment odviscry baso foos, pofomance-based foes, distribution revenues and

sharsholier servicing fees by channal.

= Cn Aped 1, 2024 AB and Socwte Genordle, o leading Europoan bank, completed their ransaction bo form a poinly owned equity ressach provider and cash equity
partres for institutioral irestons. AR has deconsolidabed the Bormsivin Research Sendces business and contributed the busiess 1o the joint ventures. Faor further

discussion, 304 Noke 24 Dnessituns,

Our AllianceBernstain U S, Growth Siock, an eperend fund incerporatied in Japan, generaled approximately 13%, 11%, and 11% of oue investment advisary

and servica feas and 10%, 8%, and &% of our net revenues during 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Geographic Information
Met reverees and long-ved assets, refated to our ULS. and intemational operations, as of and for the years ended December 31, were as follaws:
{iry theie naa)
et revenues':
Unfied States F JE41E3 0§ 2527498 0§ 231938
Internatanal:
Luxembaurg 1,046,793 BEB 256 233,642
Japan 487 405 e ri s 2 45T
Other Intemational 299 303 366,347 356,233
Total International 1,833,605 1627825 1,672,332
Todal § 4475139 0§ 4155323 0§ 4,054,200
Long-Inved assals:
Urited States £ 4187BBS S 4073188
Intermational 57,140 53670
Todal 5 4245025 § 4,126,868

! Locations compeising greater than 10% of ltotal ned mewermies ane disclosed separately in the curent period. Prior pediods have boen recast to agiee %o cunent porods
Erasoniaton
Major Customers

Mo single customer o individual chent accounted for mare than 10% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,

23. Related Party Transactions

Mutual Funds

We provide investment management, distibution. shareholder, adminisirative and brokerage senices lo individual investors by means of retail mutual funds
sponsoned by our company and cur subsidianes. We provide substantaally 8l of these senaces under contracts that specily the senvices to be provided and
the fees to be charged. The contracts are subjec? 1o annual review and approval by each mutual fund's board aof directors o nusbess and, in cetain
circumstances, by the mulual funds shaneholders.

Revenues for senvices provided or refated to the mutual funds ane as follows:

Years Ended Decemiber 31

i treovuesa niks
Irvesimant advisory and services fees $ 1887283 S5 137786 5§ 1452885
Cestribution revenues 1,156 S75. 647 580,580
Shareholder sarvicing fees 80,547 TE.440 79,167
Oihesr reverues 7400 9,398 B,386
§ 23098786 § 039401 5 2,130,994

EQH and its Subsidiaries

We provide imvestment management and cetan admirsiration senaces 1o EQH and its subsidianes. In additon, EQH and its subskharies dsiribute
company-sponsored mutual funds, for which they receive commissions and distribubion payments. Alsa, wa Bfe covered by vanouws insurance pobies
maintained by EQH and we pay fees for technology and other senvices provided by EQH and its subsidianies. Additionaly, see Nate 12 Debd, for disciosures
related o our credst faglity with EQH
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Aggregate amounts included in the comsolidated financial stalements for transactions with EQH and s subsidiaries. as of and for the years ended
December 31, are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

{in thousandsy

Ravenues
Irrvesslembienl dwisory and serices fees ] 160,511 5 165,748 ] 148,377
Cther revenues o5 ik L
£ 181,077 5 1688_365 £ 143,065

Experses:
Commissions and datrbulion payments to inancial inlermedianes 5 3645 § 3432 0§ 3,887
Ganeral and administrative 2,362 2508 2882
EQH Facility Inesest 25976 37304 1,372
Other 3469 2543 2897

5 5452 0§ 46654 % 20,848

Statemant of Financaal Condition

Inshitutional imeestment advisory and services fees recedvable 5 ABES 0§ 5,055
Prepaad expenses 543 708
Other due (1o) from EQH and s subsidianes (2.800) 4718
EQH Facilty {710,000} {500,000)

5 (E7ETAZ) 5 [(885,517)

Other Related Parties

The condolidated stalements of finanaal condilion ncludé a net eoenable from AB Holding a8 & resull of cash lransactions for fees and éxpende
reimbursemenls. The nel recesvable balanee included in the conscldated slatements of inancal condition as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was 582
rrallion and $3.7 milion, respectively

142 AlllanceBernstein
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24, Divestitures

Divestitures

On November 22, 2022 AB and SecGen, 8 leading European bank, announced plans to form a joint venture combining thelr respectvwe cash eguities and
ressarch businesses (the “Initial Plan’), In the initial Pian, AR would own @ 45% interest in the global joint verture and SccGen would own @ 51% intenes,
with an opton bo reach 100% ownarship after five years,

Dwring the fourth quarter of 2023, AB and SocGen negolialed a revised plan (the “Revised Plan™) to form a global point venture with two joint venture holding
companies, one outside of North Amenca and one within Morth America ("MA JV™, and together the “JWe"), Effective April 1, 2024, AB and SocGen
complieted their previously announced transaction in accordance with the Rewssed Plan, AB owns a §5.7% majority interest in the NA JV while SecGen owns
& 51% majordy interest in the [oint venlure outside of Marth Amerca. While AB currently cwms a majarity of the bA JV the stnectune of the Board of Direclors
of the NA A which includes two independent directors, in addition to four directors. from AB and three directors from SocGen, preclsdes AB's contral of the
Board thereby permatiing decorsoldation of the BRS bustness. Going forward, AB will maintzn an equity method imvestment in each of the JWs and repan
on the performance of the two JV holding companies on a combined basis.

As & result of the greater value of the business AB contributed to the Jus, SocGen pasd AB $304.0 milion in cash to egualize the value of the conlributions
by AB and SocGen to the JW's. The cash payment of $304.0 millien inchaded $102 8 milion of prepaid consideration for an opticn. exercisable by AR during
the next fve years, thal would resull in SocGen having a 51% ownership of the NA JV (the "AB option™) and bringing the ransaction cwnership terms back
i linst with the Inital Plan, AB's ophon may only be exercised upon receipt of approprate regulatery approvals. The 3304.0 million cash payment wis used
o pay down debt under AB's existing credit faeilities.

Under the terms of the frarsaction and assuming AB exercises its option as noted above, SocGen would increase its ownership to a majority interest of the
WA I, without further consideration payable, AB has an additional oplion to sell i ownership interests in the JVs to SocGen after fve years, at the Tair
rarket value of AB's nberests in the Jys, subpet to regquiatony appeaval. The ullimate objective of SocGen and AB & for SocGen to eventually own 100% af
the JVs after five years.

A has deconsolidated the BRS business and retaned the Bernsein Private Wealth Management business within #s exisling US. broker dealer, SCB LLC.
AB's Private Wealth Management business continues to operale through SCB LLC and SCB LLC confinues bo serve as custodian for substantially all Private
‘Weallh assels under management. AB conlinues to serde as imesiment adviser to these Private Wealth clients. Furiher, we enened inlo certain iransflion

senvice level agreemants with the JAs in connection with the divestiture of the BRS business. From Agril 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 we provided
senvices and recogrized revenues of 537 8 million assccated with these transition services agreements.

204 fnnual Report 103
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The met canrying amount of the BRS business assets and labililies included in the sabe was 53121 million and consisted of the fallowing

(in tFusangs)

Cash and cash equivalents H 338,226
Recerables, nat:

Brokers and dealers 31 427

Brokerage cienls 287

(Other feas 14719
Invesiments 8.535
Furniture and equpment, nat BAT2
Otheér assals 44 751
Right-ol-use assats 4422
Imangible assets 3,650
Goodwil 155,828

Total assets sold 5 615,065
Payables:

Brokers and dialers 5 15,271

Brokarage chents 4190
AP and Accrued Expenses 134979
Citther liabilities 10,370
Accrusd compenkhbon and benafils 42 DEg
Dabt 56,200

Tolal liabilities sold 5 302,989

Az a result of the sale, we recognized a pre-tax gan of £134.6 million during the second quarter of 2024, calculated as follows:

{in thousands)
Cagh procaeds 5 03,980
Faar values of equety mbenest inthe s 283,871
Mat carrying amount of assels and liabdites drested (31 2.068)
Cansaderation for fulure pul optbon to be exercaed by AB {100 550)
Cumnulative translation losses (10,197)
Rearganization costs (28 4835

Pre-ax gain on divestiture 5 134,555

We deconsolidated apprommately 5312 1 milkon of ned assets and kabilkties of the BRS buuiness and contnbuled those assets and habilfies to the s, We
recorded an intial investmant in the Jvs, at fair value of 52835 milion. The fair value of the equity method investments was determined using 8 dividend
discount model whereby a forecast of ned income attributable to each of the JVs is discounted using an estimated cost of capital to delerming the present
walua of expacted future dridends.

In addiion, we recorded a liabdity in sccounts payable and accrued expenses on the consclidated slalement of financial conddtion of approsimately
$102.6 million, based cn the negatiated terms of the Revised Plan, nelated 1o the AB option. Upon receipt of appropriate regulatory approvals, AB intends to
enarcise the AB gption and will recognize a gain or loss af that time, dependent upon the fair market value of the addiional equity interest that would resull in
SocGen having 51% ownership nterest in NA JV. For discussion on our accounting pokicy nelated to imvestments in unconsalidated joint veriures, see Nole
2 Significan! Accounting Palicias.

104 AllianceBernatein
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The net eash contribuled at trarssction cless from the divesttre of the BRS business as presented under Cash Flows from Investing Adivites represans
the cash porton of the sale consideration, which was defermned as the fair value of the sale consideration, adjusted by the cash transferred fo the joint
wvenbures and direct costs 1o sell. The follewing table summarizes the different components of the nitial business divest@ure presented under cash Sows from
vvesting activities:

{in theuiands)
Cash proceeds from buyer H 303,880
Initial cash cordribubed to joint vantures from bransfering balance sheat {358 226)
Darect costs bo sell (5.5950)
Cash outflow from divestiture § (40,196}

Includied in the inilial cash contribution 10 the joinl véntures s approximately 5831 million of prefunded cash received from SocGen in advance of closing
due o certain banking holidays in the U2, and internaticnally. The 562 1 million was included in held for sale cash as of March 31, 2024 wilth an offsefting
Eabilty recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses in held for sale Eabilties on the conscidated statement of financial condition. AL transadion
close, AB confributed ths cash bo the joint venfures on bebalf of SocGen.

As of Decembaer 31, 2023 the assets and liabilities of AB's research services business (“the dispesal group”) were dassified as held for sale on the
consolidaied stalement of financial condition and recorded at fair value, less cost to sell. As a result of classifying thase assets as held for sale. we

recognized a cumutative non-cash valuation adjustment of $6.6 million as of Decembar 31, 2023, respectively, b recognize the net camying value at lower of
cost or lair vakee, less estimated costs to sall.

Year Ended December 31

{in {hausarrda)

Cash and cash equivalents H 153,047
Racerables, malb:

Brokers and dealers 2,669

Brokerage clents 74,351

Other fees 15,326
Irmvestmants 17,0298
Fueniture and equipment, pet 5807
Other assats 104,228
Right-of-use assets o3
Inangible assets 4,0E1
Goodwill 158 856
‘Valuation adjusiment {allowance) on disposal group {E.600)

Total assets held for sale § 584,776
Payables:

Brokers and dealers 5 39,359

Brokarage chents 16,885
Otther liabilities 67,838
Accrued compengation and benefils 29960

Total liabilities held for sale $ 153,342

As of December 31, 2023, eash and cash equivalents classdied as held for sake included in the consolidated siatement of cash flows wes $153.0 milion,

W bave: defermined that the ewxit from the sell-side research business did not represent a sirategic shift that has had, or is likely o have a major effect on
aur consalidaled results of cperations. Accordingly, we did not classify the disposal group as discanlinued cperations. The results of cperations of the
dispasal group up o the respectve date of sale were included in our corsolidated results of operations for all periods presented. The lower of amortized cost
or fair value adjusimen] upon transferring hese assels to held Tor sale was nol material
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the General Partner and Unitholders of
AllianceBernstein L.P.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of AllianceBernstein
L.P. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated
statements of income, of comprehensive income, of changes in partners® capital and of cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes and financial
statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company®"s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (C0S0).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, inall material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in
conformity with accounting principles general ly accepted in the United States of America. Also inour
opinion, the Company maintained, inall material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the C0SO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company”s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in Management®s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under I'tem 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company*"s
consolidated financial statements and on the Company®s internal control over financial reporting based
onour audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits
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also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company®s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company®"s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company”s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments.
The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it
relates.

Valuation of the Initial Investment in the Unconsolidated JVs

As described in Notes 2 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company and Societe
Generale completed the transaction to forma global joint venture with two joint venture holding
companies, one outside of North America and one within North America (“NA JV”, and together the “JVs").
The Company maintains an equity method investment in each of the JVs and recorded an initial investment
in the JVs at fair value as of April 1, 2024 of $283.9 million. The valuation methodology used for the
initial investment in the joint ventures is known as a dividend discount model whereby a forecast of net
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income attributable to each of the JVs was discounted using an estimated cost of capital to determine the
present value of expected future dividends. The joint venture dividend discount model includes
significant assumptions such as expected future distributable earnings, discount rate and a long term
growthrate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation
of the initial investment in the unconsolidated JVs is acritical audit matter are (i) the significant
judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of the initial investment in the
unconsolidated JVs; (ii) ahigh degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing
procedures and evaluating management®s significant assumptions related to expected future
distributable earnings, discount rate and a long term growth rate; and (iii) the audit effort involved
the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with
forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included
testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the dividend discount model, including controls over
the valuation of the initial investment in the unconsolidated JVs. These procedures also included,
among others (1) reading the joint venture agreement; (ii) testing management”s process for developing
the fair value estimate of the initial investment in the unconsolidated JVs; (iii) evaluating the
appropriateness of the dividend discount model; (iv) testing the completeness and accuracy of
underlying data used in the dividend discount model ; and (v) evaluating the reasonableness of the
significant assumptions used by management related to expected future distributable earnings, discount
rate and a long term growth rate. Evaluating management®s assumptions related to expected future
distributable earnings involved considering (i) the historical performance of the contributed
businesses; (ii) the consistency with external market and industry data; and (iii) the consistency with
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were
used to assist in the evaluation of the appropriateness of the dividend discount model and the
reasonableness of the assumptions related to the discount rate and long term growth rate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Nashville, Tennessee

February 14, 2025

We have served as the Company”s auditor since 2006.
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